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il TION

About ten vears ago, Cantargia’s founders at Lund University made an important discovery in their re-
search into leukemia stem cells. They discovered that these immature cancer cells had the IL1RAP mol-
ecule on their cell surface and that it could be used to separate the cancer stem cells from normal stem
cells. Their continued research showed that this molecule was also present on cancer cells from a large
number of tumour diseases. Based on these research results, Cantargia was founded at the end of 2009.
Since then, we have developed a potential drug targeting IL1TRAP, CANO4, and in 2017 patient studies
were initiated.

Although advances are continually being made in cancer research, there is still a great need for new cancer
treatments. There are many reasons for this. One is that many of the available treatments do not address
the fundamental mechanisms behind the disease. The principle for Cantargia's method of attacking the
tumour is to target one of these important mechanisms — the “tumour inflammation”. This gives the can-
cer cells a favourable micro-environment in which to grow and protects them from our natural immune
system. ILT1RAP transmits signals that are important for the tumour inflammation and CANO4 blocks
these signals and helps the immune system to attack the cancer cells. Due to its strong link to the immune
system and cancer treatment, CANO4 occupies a central place in the area known as immuno-oncology.

Cantargia’s research has been successful, and the company was listed on Nasdaq First North already
in 2015 with the aim of facilitating financing and continuing the development of our product candidate,
CANOL. In the course of this journey, we have discovered several new opportunities, and have therefore
initiated research activities and early product development also in auto-immune and inflammatory dis-
eases, where inflammation is also a part of the disease mechanism. Our main focus, however, remains
on treatment of non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer with CANO4. Here, we expect important
results in our CANFOUR clinical study, both in 2018 and 2019. In addition to these diseases, there is con-
siderable potential in several other forms of cancer, not least leukemia, where Cantargia’s research began.
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A PROJECT PORTFOLIO WITH POTENTIAL AND BREADTH

Cantargia’s project portfolio is based on the development of antibodies against IL1RAP — antibodies that are de-
signed to treat serious, life-threatening diseases. The company’s focus and priority today are on cancer treatment
of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and pancreatic cancer but the portfolio will gradually be broadened, partly
through the use of new opportunities in the main CANO4 project and partly through research aimed at developing
new antibodies which are designed also for treating autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. This means that
Cantargia currently has a portfolio with both potential and breadth. An illustration of Cantargia’s project portfolio
showing the stage of development of each project is shown below.

Project Discovery Preclinical Phase | Phase Il Phase Il Commercial phase
phase phase

CANO4

Non-small cell lung cancer
Pancreatic cancer

Leukemia

CANXxx

Autoimmune and
inflammatory diseases




CANO& for cancer treatment

In 2016, more than 60,000 Swedes were diagnosed with can-
cer. Advances are currently being made in terms of the treat-
ment of patients, but the medical need for new drugs is very
considerable.

Cantargia’s antibody treatment, CANO4, fights cancer by acti-
vating the immune system’s killer cells and by blocking signals
which stimulate tumour growth. CANO4 thus has a double-
acting effect against cancer. The ILTRAP molecule, the target
for Cantargia's treatment, is found in most common forms of
cancer, which means that there is significant treatment poten-
tial for different cancer diseases. Using the information that is
now available, Cantargia is focusing its initial development of
CANO4 on non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and pancreatic
cancer, but there are considerable opportunities in other cancer
diseases.

Non-small cell lung cancer

Lung cancer is the fifth most common form of cancer in men
and the fourth most common in women. By far the most com-
mon cause of lung cancer is tobacco smoking, which singly or
in combination with other risk factors explains around 90 per
cent of lung cancer cases, but there are also hereditary causes
of lung cancer. In 2016, nearly 4,000 Swedes were diagnosed
with lung cancer.

Lung cancer can be divided into two main groups — non-small
cell lung cancer and small cell lung cancer. Non-small cell lung
cancer accounts for around 85 per cent of the total number of
lung cancer cases. Lung cancer has traditionally been treated
with cytotoxins, but more recently new drugs which activate
the immune system have been shown to be successful.
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Pancreatic cancer

Cancer of the pancreas — pancreatic cancer — is a disease with
a very poor prognosis and high mortality. In 2016, around
1,300 people in Sweden were diagnosed with pancreatic
cancer. While the number of cases increases every year, our
knowledge of the cause of pancreatic cancer is very limited.
Operation is currently the only way to cure pancreatic cancer,
but most cases of this type of cancer are discovered at such
a late stage that the patient’s chance of being cured is very
small. In addition to operation, the disease is treated with cy-
totoxins. While these have a certain treatment effect, there is
a strong need for new treatments.

Leukemia — AML

In 2016, more than 1,100 people in Sweden were diagnosed
with various forms of blood cancer, leukemia. AML is the most
common form of acute leukemia and affects around a third of
leukemia patients. AML is characterised by a rapid increase in
white blood cells, which accumulate in the bone marrow and
interfere with the production of normal blood cells. The dis-
ease progresses rapidly and, if left without treatment, the pa-
tient dies within a few months. Chemotherapy, currently the
most common form of treatment, is plagued by low efficacy
and serious side effects. More recently, treatments which tar-
get specific changes in some of the patients have been shown
to have an effect.

CANxx for treatment of autoimmune and
inflammatory diseases

Cantargia intends to develop and apply for patents for a new
antibody against ILTRAP that is designed for treatment of
autoimmune/inflammatory diseases. The goal is to select a
product candidate in 2019.




“IWe operat®in
an qiéa where the
,nten tial revenues for
those who succeed
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Ever since its initial public offering in early 2015, Cantargia has been performing well. Our projects have
advanced and new opportunities have opened up. The whole of 2017 and the beginning of 2018 have been
a fantastic period. Our success in delivering on many fronts is borne out by the fact that a number of major
institutional investors and specialist investors have chosen to support Cantargia’s continued development

through significant capital commitments. This has given Cantargia a significant boost in its efforts to continue
developing its clinical development. Our investors’ strong support for our development of new drugs against
deadly diseases is of course very encouraging, and our expanding development plan increases the probability
that we will achieve positive results in future.



In the first few months of 2017, Cantargia completed the last
few activities that were needed to complete an application
for initiating clinical trials with our antibody, CANO4. The re-
sults of the toxicity tests that we conducted were particularly
encouraging, with no serious side effects identified. Along-
side the toxicity studies, we produced the first GMP batch of
CANO4 that was of sufficiently high quality to be used in pa-
tient studies. In May, we were able to submit our application
to the regulators for authorisation to initiate the CANFOUR
trial, which we received about two months later.

Immediately after the summer break, we started to recruit
and treat patients, and in October we were able to report a
high level of safety in the first group consisting of three pa-
tients. Since then, the clinical study has proceeded accord-
ing to plan. In summer 2018, we expect to be able to present
phase | data, which will mark an important milestone. This
will be followed immediately by the phase Il stage, as the
study protocol is the same. During the phase Il stage, we will
be studying the effect in a larger number of patients, and we
expect to be able to present these data at the end of 2019.

In parallel with the initiation of the CANFOUR study, Novartis
presented data from a major international study (CANTOS)
with canakinumab, a drug against inflammatory diseases.
Canakinumab, which targets interleukin-1, blocks the same
signal pathway as CANO4, and this reduced the risk of lung
cancer by 67 per cent in this study. The risk of dying from
lung cancer was reduced by 77 per cent and the risk of dying
from other forms of cancer was 37 per cent lower compared
with the control group. These are impressive figures, and the
next step for Novartis is to initiate registrational studies in
lung cancer with canakinumab. For Cantargia, this is very en-
couraging, as we can see that CANO4 has many advantages
over canakinumab. As we see it, a furrow is being ploughed
up that can be very useful for us, in terms of development
and commercially.

Cantargia operates in an area where the potential revenues
for those who succeed are significant, but this means that
we also face competition. Over the past few years, we have
experienced a revolution in our understanding of how the im-
mune system can be used to treat cancer. Cantargia oper-
ates in this hot area of research, where positioning yourself
correctly is crucial to success. Our own data indicate that we
have a product which through its unique mechanism of action
and expected high level of safety will be a good match in vari-
ous combination treatments, and this in turn is completely
in line with future strategies for cancer treatment. The new
data that we recently presented at the major international
cancer conference AACR in Chicago further support this ex-
pectation and has generated considerable interest.

Our patent portfolio has evolved in a very satisfactory way.
We have received patents for CANO4 in the United States and
Europe, and this patent family will remain valid until 2035.
Our protection is broader than this, however, as we have also
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received patents for antibodies which are aimed generally at
our target molecule, ILTRAP, in cancer treatment. This is a big
strength, as the promising data obtained with canakinumab
are highly likely to generate increased interest from many
companies to attack interleukin-1 signalling in cancer treat-
ment. Cantargia has exclusive rights in respect of one of the
four molecules involved in this system. In 2016, a third party
filed an opposition to our European patents relating to the IL-
TRAP target molecule, but in its review of the case the Euro-
pean Patent Office gave no support for the opposition, which
means that our patents remain unchanged.

In terms of projects, Cantargia now stands on two legs after
launching the CANxx project, which is aimed at exploiting the
significant potential in targeting IL1TRAP and in autoimmune
diseases. We are very pleased to have a well established and
highly skilled partner in US biotech firm Panorama Research
Inc. Financially, Panorama will bear the majority of the costs
of the project in the early phase, which means that Cantar-
gia's investments will begin when the risk in the project is
lower. We expect to have completed the design of the anti-
body in 2019, after which the final activities in preparation
for an application to initiate clinical studies will be carried
out. In 2018 and 2019, we will be working on determining
which inflammatory or autoimmune diseases to target in our
initial development activities. In this context, | would like to
highlight that the CANTOS study mentioned above not only
reduced the risk of cancer; it also showed a reduction in a
number of different inflammatory diseases, including heart
attack, rheumatism, osteoarthritis and gout.

In 2017, Cantargia raised over SEK 300 million through share
offerings. This is a significant capital injection, which means
that both our projects are fully funded beyond important
milestones over the next two years. In particular, the clini-
cal development stage of our CANFOUR study is now funded.
We have now reached a stage of development as a company
where the logical next step is to apply for listing on the main
list of the stock exchange. Preparations to apply for a listing
in 2018 are proceeding as planned. The recent capital raisings
have given us many new shareholders, whom | would like to
welcome to Cantargia. | would also like to take this oppor-
tunity to thank all our shareholders for the valuable support
you have shown. | hope and trust that you will find Cantar-
gia's development going forward both interesting and excit-
ing. Finally, | would like to mention Cantargia's employees.
Without their skills, energy, hard work and focus, we would
not have been able to take Cantargia to where it is today.

Lund, April 2018

Goran Forsberg

(22—






A research area with a big potential
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Cantargia’s business strategy is to develop new drugs against the target protein IL1RAP. IL1RAP is a key element
in inflammations, and many diseases occur precisely because of an incorrectly regulated inflammation. Cantargia’s
main project, CANO4, is aimed at killing cells in the tumour that use IL1RAP while preventing inflammation, which
drives cancer growth. A large number of tumour types use this system. Cantargia has initially chosen to focus on
two of these: non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer, but in future there will be many opportunities to
broaden the company’s development activities to cover other serious cancer diseases.

Yet it is not just cancer diseases that are driven by ILT1RAP. In many autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, IL-
TRAP also plays role. In Cantargia’s second project, CANxx, we are developing new, specially designed antibodies
that are optimised to treat such diseases. Cantargia’s ongoing research is aimed at defining which diseases to

target in our development activities.

IL1RAP - CANCER

Cantargia's research has shown that IL1RAP plays a key rolein
the cancer cells' ability to create a favourable environment in
which to grow and spread. The company has also shown that
ILT1RAP is expressed in solid tumours in several cancer types
and that levels in normal cells are very low. Cantargia believes
there is a significant opportunity to develop effective thera-
pies for treatment of a number of diseases by blocking IL1RAP.

The tumour microenvironment

A tumour consists of several types of cells apart from cancer
cells. Itis made up of blood vessels which provide nutrition, stro-
mal cells which serve as a skeleton, and inflammatory immune
cells. A complex interaction between these cells and the cancer
cells creates an inflammation in the tumour microenvironment.

ancer cells

Blood vessels

This can block the body's natural immune system in the tumour
microenvironment, and the inflammation can also protect the
tumour during treatment. The tumour tissue also contains an
inhomogenous group of immature cancer cells called cancer
stem cells, which are formed continuously and produce tumori-
genic mature cancer cells.

The interleukin-1 system

Interleukin-1 circulates in the blood, normally in very
low concentrations, and plays a key role in the body's
immune system. Interleukin-1 is induced through a
bacterial infection, for example, and produces a fever
and other responses by affecting the central nervous
system. Interleukin-1 comes in two varieties, Inter-
leukin-1a and Interleukin-1p.

Inflammatory
B immune cells

Stroma cells
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Interleukin- 1
binds to receptor

Cancer cell

IL 1RAP

The signal is
transmitted

Without treatment, IL-1 binds to tumour cells, activating IL 1RAR, which transmits a signal that causes the tumour to grow.

Both these neurotransmitters are highly potent and can
drive several autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

Interleukin-1 binds to receptors on the cell surface, creat-
ing signals which influence the cells to produce other neu-
rotransmitters, which in turn triggers a cascade of inflamma-
tory processes. One of these receptors is Cantargia’s target
molecule IL1RAP (Interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein).

In the area of cancer, there are several external studies which
clearly show the role played by the IL-1 system role in the
development of cancer in preclinical models. An important
external validation of the IL-1 system came in August 2017
with the publication in Lancet of a major clinical study in
which the antibody canakinumab was tested in a phase I
study in more than 10,000 patients. Canakinumab binds to

CANO4 — CANTARGIA'S MAIN PROJECT

the neurotransmitter IL-1[3, slowing down some of the in-
flammatory processes stimulated by the IL-1 system. The
clinical study, which was conducted in patients at high risk
of heart attack, showed a significant reduction in inflamma-
tion-driven cardiovascular events such as heart attack and
stroke. The study included a significant number of smokers
and showed a 77 per cent decrease in mortality from lung
cancer and 67 per cent fewer cases of lung cancer compared
with the control group.

The Lancet study provides further clinical evidence of the im-
portant role played by the IL-1 system in cancer. Canakinumab
blocks IL-1, which is one of the two neurotransmitters in the
IL-1 system. Cantargia's concept is based on blocking the tar-
get protein IL1RAP and thereby preventing both IL1a and 1a
from transmitting inflammatory signals to the tumour.

Cantargia has conducted extensive research and studies into ILT1RAP and examined how the target protein can be
blocked. In 2013, antibodies were identified which bind to IL TRAR, and of these, a number of antibodies were selected for

a humanisation process and continued studies. In the following years, a final product candidate, CANO4, was identified.

Preclinical development

Cantargia has shown that IL1RAP is expressed in tumours
from several forms of cancer and that CANO4 binds strongly
to the target molecule ILTRAP, which means that the sub-
stance can potentially be used for treatment of several forms
of cancer. CANO4 has a double-acting effect against the
cancer tumour. In the body, CANO4 acts as a guided missile

which searches out and binds to the target molecule ILTRAP,
blocking the signalling. This stops the inflammation, limits tu-
mour growth and makes it easier for the immune system to
respond. CANO4 also stimulates the immune system'’s killer
cells (NK cells) by making a targeted attack against cells which
express IL1RAP, a mechanism called ADCC (antibody-depen-
dent cell-mediated cytotoxicity).



Interleukin- 1

binds to receptor IL 1RAP

Cancer cell
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the signalling

NK cell

CANO4 stimulates NK cells
to attack cancer cells

Cancer cell

CANO4 has a double-acting effect in which the antibody binds to ILTRAP and at the same time
blocks the tumour-driving signals and stimulates the immune system to attack the cancer cells.

Cantargia has studied the twin effects of CANO4 in cell-based model systems. Effects of
CANO4 on tumour growth and on the immune system are also being studied in cancer mod-
els of non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer in which various combination thera-
pies with other drugs are tested. Studies are also being conducted to further document the

properties of CANO4 during the clinical studies.

Recently, data were presented at the AACR confer-
ence which showed that CANO4 could have a big
potential in preventing metastases. This effect could
be dependent on the fact that CANO4 not only at-
tacks tumour cells, but could also have an effect
on myeloid cells in the tumour microenvironment,
where they are involved in creating an inflammation
that impairs the immune system'’s ability to reject
tumours. These cells are influenced by the same
mechanisms that were described above for affect-
ing the tumour cells.

Inflammatory cells
(through ILT1RAP)

Metastases <

Local inflammation
(e.g. lung, liver)
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The CANFOUR study

The initial focus of the clinical programme is on non-small
cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and pancreatic cancer. The first clini-
cal study — CANFOUR, which is a combined phase I/lla study
— comprises two stages in which safety and dosage are being
studied in the initial stage. The aim is to determine an appropri-
ate dose with which to continue the study in the second stage,
where signs of treatment effects will be evaluated in addition to
safety at the selected dose.

Professor Ahmad Awada is the principal investigator for the
CANFOUR study. Professor Awada is Head of Medicine and
Medical Oncology at Institut Jules Bordet in Brussels, Belgium,

NORWAY

os,o @

SWEDEN

DENMARK
@ COPENHAGEN

UNITED KINGDOM

NETHERLANDS

@ AMSTERDAM POLAND
@ ROTTERDAM

BELGIUM
GERMANY
@ BRUSSELS

LUXENBOURG CZECHOSLOVAKIA

where he is conducting important clinical research into the
treatment of solid tumours and is involved in the development
of new cancer therapies.

In the initial stage (phase I) of the study, which was initiated in
autumn 2017, CANO4 is being given to a limited number of pa-
tients with the aim of gradually increasing the dose and study-
ing the safety profile of the drug and its metabolism in the body,
in order to determine an appropriate dose to use in the second
stage. The study is being conducted by experienced investiga-
tors at five clinics at highly regarded hospitals in Belgium, the
Netherlands, Denmark and Norway.

Coordinating Investigator:
Professor Ahmad Awada, Head of Medicine and Medical
Oncology at Institute Jules Bordet in Brussels, Belgium.

“CANO4 is an interesting new substance which
strikes at an important element of the development
of the cancer”

“I am very enthusiastic about the opportunity to

take part in the initial clinical evaluation of CANO4
in cancer patients.”

Belgium
Institut Jules Bordet, Brussels

Denmark
Rigshospitalet, Department of Oncology, Copenhagen

Netherlands
Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam

Erasmus MC, Rotterdam

Norway
Oslo University Hospital, Radiumhospitalet, Oslo



In October, the first results from the first three patients
in the initial dose group were published. No serious side
effects were documented and the first patient, who had
been treated on three occasions with the CANO4 antibody,
had thus formally completed the safety evaluation in ac-
cordance with the clinical protocol.

“Our clinical CRO, SMS-oncology, is conducting the study in a
professional manner, drawing on their extensive experience,
which, together with the great interest shown in the CANFOUR
study by our investigators, means that patient recruitment is
proceeding according to plan,” Lars Thorsson, VP Clinical
Development at Cantargia, says.
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The results of the phase | stage of the study are expected to be
ready in summer 2018.

The phase lla stage

The next step will be to evaluate CANOZ in the second stage
(phase lla), in which the treatment will be given to additional
patients in order to evaluate indications of therapeutic effect
and to gather more information on the safety of the drug at the
chosen dose. CANO4 will be studied both as an individual drug
(monotherapy) and in combination with the standard treat-
ments for non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer. In
total, some 100 patients will be treated in the CANFOUR study,

Phase | - Dose escalation
with safety assessment

Y (Dose group X)

P—
. Dose group 3
P—
: Dose group 2
I
Dose group 1

Recommended
phase Il dose

which means that other clinics will be involved in phase lla, in
addition to those participating in phase I. In total, 15-20 clinics
are expected to be involved.

We expect to obtain an initial indication of anti-tumour activity
in the chosen cancer types towards the end of 2019, when
the results of the phase lla stage of the study are expected to
be available.

Information on the clinical study is available at clinicaltrials.
gov (NCT03267316).

Phase lla - Dosage with assessment of
therapeutic effect

Monotherapy

Combination therapy, NSCLC

Combination therapy, pancreatic cancer

Clinical studies
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CANxx — CANTARGIA’'S SECOND PROJECT

Project CANXxx for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases

Cantargia’s new project, CANxx, was launched in 2017 with the objective of identifying a clinical candidate that can
move on to the development phase in 2019. CANxx is being developed to target a disease segment that supplements
CANO4, which will enable Cantargia to diversify its activities to obtain a favourable risk spread in its project portfolio.

IL1RAP plays an important role in inflammatory process-
es. CANxx is aimed at developing an antibody with proper-
ties that are optimised for treatment of autoimmune and
in-flam-ma-tory diseases. Viewed from a functional biologi-
cal perspective, IL1RAP transfers signals from the cytokines
IL-1 and IL-33, which play a role in several serious autoimmune
and inflam-ma-tory diseases. There is scientific support indi-
cating that a treatment which targets IL1RAP and thus blocks

Inflammations

Asthma/Allergies

the above disease mechanisms has a very significant potential
in treatment of several diseases and can have a broader and
stronger impact than treatment aimed at the individual signal
pathways. In its CANxx project, Cantargia will be developing an
antibody that is designed to block these signal pathways in the
best way with the objective of identifying an effective, safe and
stable product candidate in 2019 and then initiating documen-
tation and production in preparation for clinical studies.

Skin diseases




PATENT PROTECTION
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Cantargia’s strategy is to obtain broad patent protection for its current and future product candidates. The company has patent
protection for treatment of several cancer diseases using antibodies against IL1RAP. Cantargia also has patent protection in re-
spect of CANO4 and variants of this molecule in Europe and the United States, with additional patents pending in a number of
countries, and has filed an application in respect of other antibodies aimed at IL1RAP.

Patent family Patent applied for Patent approved Valid until
Hematological cancer Australia, Europe, Israel, Japan, Canada, Australia, Europe (France, Italy, Netherlands, 2030
diseases China, Mexico, South Africa, USA Switzerland, Spain, UK, Germany), Japan, China,
Mexico, South Africa, USA
Solid tumours Australia, Europe, Israel, Japan, Canada, Australia, Europe (Belgium, Denmark, France, 2032
China, Mexico, South Africa, USA Ireland, Italy, Netherlands, Poland, Switzerland,
Spain, Sweden, Germany, Austria), Japan, USA,
Russia
CANOZ Australia, Brazil, Europe, India, Israel, Japan,  Europe, USA 2035
Canada, China, Mexico, Russia, Singapore,
South Africa, South Korea, USA
CANO1 & CANO3 Australia, Brazil, Europe, India, Japan, National examination initiated 2035

Canada, China, Mexico, South Korea, USA

BUSINESS MODEL

Cantargia's business model and scientific strategy are based
on partnerships, and Cantargia has concluded agreements
with a number of different companies, hospitals and academic
groupings. Currently around 30 international and local players
are engaged in research and development related to Cantar-
gia's CANO4 antibody. We are now building partnerships in a
similar way in our new project, CANxx.

The strategy is based on driving the development of prod-
uct candidates until an indication of clinical activity has been

obtained. In parallel with clinical studies the other parts of
the development programme, such as product development,
studies in disease models, combination therapies and bio-
marker development, will be advanced. After that, Cantargia
intends to find a commercial partner that is able to carry out
the final stage of clinical development and then register and
commercialise our projects.
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THE FOUNDERS' STORY

Strong research and foresight
laid the foundation for Cantargia

Background

Cantargia was founded at the end of 2009 by Thoas Fio-
retos, Marcus Jards and Kjell Sjostrom together with LU
Innovation based on a discovery made during research into
leukemia. All of the founders remain involved in Cantargia
through various collaborative partnerships and Thoas Fio-
retos is @ member of Cantargia's Board of Directors. Here
Thoas Fioretos gives his account of the background, the
discovery and the founding of the company as well as the
exciting developments that lie ahead.

“The journey from the laboratory bench to clinical studies
has been an exciting one," says Thoas Fioretos, who works
as a professor and chief physician at the Department of
Clinical Genetics at Lund University.

Targeted antibodies

To retrace the origins of Cantargia, we need to go back almost
ten years. Then as now, Thoas Fioretos' research at Lund Uni-
versity focused on leukemia — blood cancer. Marcus Jaras had
recently completed his PhD and was doing a post doc in Thoas
Fioretos' research team. “We discussed various strategies for

finding cell surface molecules on what are called leukemia
stem cells or blood cancer stem cells. Itis these that are at the
root of the disease; they are the cells that give rise to all leu-
kemia cells and cause relapses after conventional treatment.
We examined whether there were any proteins on the surface
of these cells which distinguished them from normal blood-
forming stem cells. The idea was that it would then be pos-
sible to use antibodies which are targeted exclusively at the
diseased cells and which would therefore be able to kill these”

An important discovery

Marcus Jaras found that IL1RAP was expressed on the cell
surface of the stem cells in chronic myeloid leukemia, which
is a type of blood cancer, and that the protein was not ex-
pressed on healthy stem cells. The two researchers realised
that this was an important discovery and that their findings
would have an impact on the treatment of blood cancer.

Kjell Sjostrom, who currently runs Innovagen AB, a com-
pany which specialises in antibodies, became the third link
in the team behind Cantargia. “Thanks to Kjell Sjostrom, we
were able to produce the first antibodies that were shown
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Marcus Jdards

Thoas Fioretos

to have an effect on leukemia stem cells,” Thoas says. “"We
engaged the help of LU Innovation and were able to submit
our first patent application.

We also had our discovery published in the respected
journal Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences
(PNAS).

The discovery was soon expanded when the research team
was able to show that IL1RAP was present not only on the Kjell Sjostrom
diseased stem cells but also in acute myeloid leukemia. “We
also had data which showed that ILTRAP was present on
several other types of tumours. Meanwhile, publications
were produced by other research teams, mainly in leukemias,
which showed that we had found an exciting new track.”
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By this stage, the three men, Thoas Fioretos, Marcus Jaras
and Kjell Sjostrom, had hatched the idea of creating a com-
pany to assist their continued research and develop the project
into adrug,. It was clear to them that IL1RAP was important for
the growth of the cancer cells and that it could be used as a
target for treating several different forms of cancer as well as
for treating autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

Capital requirements and incorporation

To continue the project with the aim of developing a drug that
could reach the patients and really make a difference in the
fight against cancer, they needed capital from investors.

Together with Lund University, the trio once again enlisted the
help of LU Innovation and with their help and support from
Lund University Bioscience AB, a venture capital firm jointly
owned by Lund University and private investors, they were
able to form Cantargia.

“The newly formed company enabled us to continue work-
ing on our discovery,” Thoas Fioretos says. Their continued
research showed that IL1RAP is also expressed in solid tu-
mours from several different forms of cancer. The company
added additional patents and the activities were gradually
professionalised. Apart from strong, sustained support from

several of LU Bioscience's private investors, Sunstone Capital
was also brought on board, testifying to the quality of Can-
targia's research and the company’s strong patent portfolio.

To the stock market

With Goran Forsberg at the helm, and drawing on his exten-
sive experience of drug development, the company expanded
and further strengthened its position. In March 2015, Cantar-
gia was listed on the stock exchange. The company initially
chose to focus on clinical development of solid tumours, and
in summer 2017 it was able to launch a phase | study after a
successful initial public offering.

In a short space of time, Cantargia has evolved into a promis-
ing listed biotech company. According to Thoas Fioretos, there
are several factors which explain why things have gone so
well. One is that the original innovators have been involved
in helping to develop the company while maintaining a good
balance of commitments. “As the founders, Marcus, Kjell and |
were on the Board of Directors from the outset, and we have
continually been involved in developing the company through
various collaborative arrangements. After all, we know the ba-
sic biology behind it all," says Thoas Fioretos, who remains a
Board member. All of the founders are also committed share-
holders of the company.




Lund base an important factor

Thoas Fioretos also stresses that Cantargia is a company
with a highly skilled and experienced management team,
minimal bureaucracy and short lines of command. By work-
ing with CROs — contract research organisations — Cantargia
has avoided the need to make costly investments that would
have tied the company to a specific technical orientation. In
addition, several investors of varying size have injected capital
through a number of rights issues, which has been crucial to
the company'’s ability to develop a drug that is now being test-
ed in clinical studies,” Thoas Fioretos says. Another valuable
assetis the company’s presence in Lund with its full-scale uni-
versity and all the faculties round the corner. “In Lund, there
are also several good examples which show that it is possible
to build successful companies,” according to Thoas.

Publications added to credibility

Thoas Fioretos is convinced that the company'’s strong ties
to the researchers are important. To outside experts, who
need to assess a discovery which forms the basis for a com-
pany, it is important that the research findings have been
scientifically assessed. “The discovery needs to be published

own®
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in recognised scientific publications, and we have succeeded
in doing so,” Thoas stresses. Scientific findings produced by
other parties have also played a role. Last autumn, for ex-
ample, results from Novartis’ CANTOS study created an in-
creased interest in investing in Cantargia. CANTOS is a major
heart attack study where partial results have shown that
Novartis' antibody against interleukin-1 (IL-1) reduced the
incidence of lung cancer in patients. The results attracted
widespread attention and can be said to have further vali-
dated Cantargia's concept.

The goal - reaching the patient

“For us, the founders, it is quite unique to be able to go from
the laboratory bench to the clinical phase and studies in hu-
mans in such a short time. A researcher’s goal, after all, is to
reach the patient. As | see it, Cantargia has what it takes to
make this happen,” Thoas Fioretos concludes.

In 2018, Thoas Fioretos received the prestigious Wallenberg
Clinical Scholars award from the Royal Swedish Academy
of Sciences and the Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation,
which run the Wallenberg Clinical Scholars programme. The
goal is to strengthen clinical research in Sweden by identi-
fving the best clinical researchers, enable them to conduct
their research and ensure that the results have an impact,

both scientifically and in patient care.

https:#kaw.wallenberg.org/press/fyra-forskande-overlakare-
blir-wallenberg-clinical-scholars-2018
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CANCER - A GLOBAL CHALLENGE

Cancer is one of the most common causes of death in the
world, accounting for around 20 per cent of deaths in the
West. Globally, more than 14 million people are diagnosed
with cancer each year and more than eight million lose their
lives to cancer-related diseases. Despite significant advances
in treatment and diagnosis there is a pressing need for new
treatment methods.

There are around 200 known cancer diseases, which all have
in common that cells somewhere in the body have started
to divide and grow uncontrollably. Research indicates that
two independent events are required for a cancer disease
to develop: normal cells have been damaged, resulting in
rapid and uncontrolled cell growth, and the cells exist in an
inflammatory microenvironment, which acts as a breeding
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ground and protects them from attacks from the body's
immune system. The number of cancer cases is increasing
continuously in Sweden and globally, partly due to a larger
share of elderly in the population, but also because of
Western lifestyle, in which smoking, alcohol consumption,
unhealthy diets, low physical activity, overweight, obesity
and unhealthy sun habits are contributory factors. In 2013,
for the first time, more than 60,000 cases of cancer were
registered in a single year in the Swedish National Board
of Health and Welfare's cancer register. In Sweden, it is
estimated that at least one in three people will be affected
by cancer at some point during their lifetime and the number
of cancer cases has doubled since 1970. The picture below
shows the distribution of cancer incidence (14.1 million
cases) and cancer mortality (8.2 million deaths) in the world
by type of cancer and major region in 2012.
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THE MARKET FOR CANCER DRUGS AND
ANTIBODIES

The market for cancer drugs is significant and is growing fast.
In total, the market was estimated to be worth around USD
107 billion in 2015. New forecasts show that the number
of people living with a diagnosis of cancer is set to double
by 2040, with a continued strong need for new and more

effective drugs and treatment methods, which means that
society's costs for cancer will increase dramatically.

The market for cancer drugs is expected to grow at an annual
rate of 7.5 to 10.5 per cent and reach USD 150 billion by 2020.
Much of this growth is expected to be driven by extensive use
of new treatments, especially immuno-oncology therapies.

The market for cancer drugs: Costs and growth 2010-2020
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THE MARKET FOR ANTIBODY-BASED DRUGS
Antibodies, also known as immunoglobulins, are produced by the
body’s immune system and have the task of binding to and elim-
inating foreign substances. The antibody binds to specific sur-
face molecules, known as antigens, on foreign substances and
enables white blood cells and complement proteins to eliminate
these substances from the body. Ultimately, antibodies aim spe-
cifically at the intended target, and the link between an antibody
and its target structure is very strong. Antibodies have many
properties that make them suitable for treatment of diseases,
and many newly developed drugs are based on various types of
antibodies.

The global market for antibody-based drugs was estimated to
be worth USD 105 billion in 2016 and is expected to grow by
12.5 per cent annually to reach USD 340 billion by the end of
2026. The three biggest cancer drugs, Rituxan, Avastin and Her-
ceptin, are antibody-based and are sold by Roche. In 2016, sales

of Rituxan reached USD 7.87 billion while sales of Avastin and
Herceptin totalled USD 7.13 billion and USD 7.47 billion, respec-
tively. Following recent advances in immuno-oncology there
is now a large number of antibody candidates in the research
phase and in preclinical and clinical development for treatment
of various forms of cancer. In 2011, the firstimmunotherapeutic
antibody, Yervoy® (Bristol-Myers Squibb) was approved. Since
then, another three antibody-based immunotherapies for treat-
ment of cancer have been approved by the FDA: Opdivo® (Merck
& Co), Keytruda® (Merck & Co) and Tecentriq® (Roche). Antibody-
based immunotherapies have expanded their area of applica-
tion for use in treatment of practically all forms of cancer. The
common denominator for these products is that they block the
signals used by the cancer tumour to avoid the immune system
and continue to grow. In 2017, sales of Yervoy® were USD 1.24
billion, Opdivo® USD 4.95 billion, Keytruda® USD 3.81 billion and
Tecentriq® approximately USD 514 million.



CANTARGIA'S INITIAL MARKET FOCUS

CANO4 is an antibody aimed at the ILT1RAP target molecule that
fights cancer both by activating the immune system and by
blocking signals which drive tumour growth. While the patented
antibody has the potential to be used for treatment of various
forms of cancer, the focus of the initial clinical development is
on non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and pancreatic cancer. The
choice of initial indications is based on the discovery that the sys-
tems which are attacked by CANOX (interleukin 1 signalling) have
been shown to play an important role in tumour development in
the chosen indications and on the fact that Cantargia's own re-
search has shown a high expression of ILTRAP on these tumours.

LUNG CANCER

Globally, 1.8 million new cases of lung cancer were diagnosed in
2012 while more than 1.5 million people died as a result of lung
cancer. Lung cancer is the form of cancer that causes the largest
number of deaths and is the fifth most common cause of death
after cardiovascular disease, stroke, COPD and respiratory tract
infections. Around 80-85 per cent of all lung cancers are non-
small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).

Lung cancer is a form of cancer that is hard to treat and for which
there is a significant medical need. Lung cancer is in the first hand
treated with surgery combined with radiotherapy or chemother-
apy but also with targeted therapies, such as antibodies against
PD-1 (Keytruda®, Opdivo®), which stimulate the immune sys-
tem. Despite this, survival after five years is less than 20 per cent.

A very large study with an antibody against one of the variants
of IL-1 (beta) showed a 67 per cent reduction in the number of
cases of lung cancer and a 77 per cent decrease in the number
of deaths from lung cancer. Promising results have also been re-
ported from a small study conducted at the MD Anderson Cancer
Center in the United States with an antibody against the other
variant of IL-1 (alpha). In addition to the reduced incidence of lung
cancer, both studies showed a reduction in inflammatory bio-
markers that could make a very important contribution to help
fight the tumour as well as increased muscle mass and an im-
proved quality of life for the patients.

PANCREATIC CANCER

Cancer of the pancreas is hard to treat, as it is often discovered
at a late stage of the disease process, which makes it difficult
to remove the tumour surgically and means that the cancer has
in many cases spread to other organs. Each year some 178,000
people are diagnosed with pancreatic cancer globally while
around 173,000 die from the disease. The rate of survival after
five years is around seven per cent.

Pancreatic cancer is generally treated with a combination of mul-
tiple chemotherapies as well as with radiotherapy and surgery
where possible, and there is a very significant need for new treat-
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ment methods. Pancreatic cancer is one of the cancer diseases
where inflammation is an important part of the development of
the tumour and where it has been observed that interleukin-1
plays a central role for the growth of the tumour. There are also
studies which show that the IL-1 system creates resistance to
certain cytotoxins used in the treatment of pancreatic cancer.

ACUTE MYELOID LEUKEMIA (AML)

AML is the most common form of acute leukemia in adults and
is characterised by a rapid increase in white blood cells, which
accumulate in the bone marrow and interfere with the produc-
tion of normal blood cells. The disease progresses rapidly and, if
left without treatment, the patient dies within a few months. The
underlying reason for the disease is genetic damage, which has
been mapped in detail in recent years. It is estimated that there
were around 18,000 new cases of AML in the US in 2014 and
more than 10,000 AML-related deaths.

Cantargia and its founders have studied AML and other forms of
leukemia and have shown that IL1RAP is expressed both on leu-
kemic stem cells and mature cancer cells, and that these can be
killed by antibodies targeted at ILTRAP.

OTHER SOLID TUMOURS

In addition to the aforementioned cancer types, studies have
shown that IL1RAP is found in other solid tumours such as breast
cancer and bowel cancer. The prospects of using CANO4 as an
immunological platform for several forms of cancer are therefore
good. Itis also highly interesting to evaluate CANO4 in combina-
tion with other therapies where the mechanisms of action com-
plement each other.
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DRUG DEVELOPMENT

To be able to market a drug, the drug first needs to be re-
gistered and approved by regulators, who require documen-
tation on efficacy and safety. Drug development is a three-
stage process that is often long and costly. The process takes
an average of twelve years, covering three stages: the pre-
clinical phase, clinical phase and registration phase.

PRECLINICAL PHASE

The preclinical phase is characterised by the activities con-
ducted by chemists, biologists and pharmacologists who
study and develop various substances in laboratories. With
the help of effective disease models, researchers can study
how various pharmaceutical substances behave and inte-
ract. After this, individual substances are selected for closer
study, in the laboratory and in animal models. Some of the
questions that need to be answered are: "What is the app-
ropriate dose?", "Can the drug produce cancer?” and “Does
it affect the animal's reproduction?” The purpose of the pre-
clinical phase is to select a candidate drug (CD), for which an
application for clinical trials in humans is submitted.

Before a candidate drug can be tested in humans, much work
is required to ensure that the product is sufficiently safe and
stable, and to establish how it behaves in the body and how
it leaves the body. An application to conduct clinical studies
in humans is sent to the relevant drug regulator, which in
Sweden is the Medical Products Agency. In the United Sta-
tes, the clinical trial application is called Investigational New
Drug Application (IND) and in the EU, Clinical Trial Applica-
tion (CTA). Applications are filed in those countries where
the clinical trial will be conducted and are then examined
by independent medical experts, who assess whether the
trial can be initiated or whether further documentation is
required. Apart from obtaining permission from the drug re-
gulators, the company also needs to apply for and receive
permission from each country's local and/or national ethics
committee. The approval of an application is followed by a
long and complex process involving several years of clinical
studies before the company can apply to have the product
approved for general use.

CLINICAL PHASE

When the clinical phase begins, clinical studies in humans are
initiated. These studies are normally conducted at hospitals
or health centres and are formally divided into four phases
— phase |, II, lll and IV — although the differences between
the phases is not always clear-cut in practice. To ensure that
the studies can be interpreted objectively, endpoints for the
evaluation of the studies are defined in advance. How the
study programme for a particular drug should be designed
is evaluated continually and regulatory approval is required
for each sub-study.

Phase |

Phase | is the first occasion on which a new substance is giv-
en to a human. The trial subjects are volunteers and normally
healthy, and are subject to constant medical monitoring.

In clinical studies in cancer, however, it is common for pa-
tients to be included already in the phase | studies. The pur-
pose of the trial is to determine whether the trial subjects
tolerate the drug and whether its behaviour in the body is
the same as that indicated in the earlier animal studies and
other research. The purpose is also to identify safe doses and
identify any side effects. The initial dose is made as low as
possible, but is sufficiently high to provide answers to the
questions that the trial is designed to illumine. If everything
goes as planned, the dose can then gradually be increased
to the clinical use level. Phase | studies normally take six
months to a year to complete.

Phase Il

Phase Il is normally the first occasion on which the drug is
given to patients with the disease concerned. At this stage,
the test group is also increased. This trial group normally
consists of 100-500 individuals. The objective of this phase
is to show “proof of concept’, i.e. that the drug actually has
an effect, and to study how it affects the disease or its symp-
toms and determine the dose to be used in large-scale trials.
Like the first phase, phase Il normally takes six months to a
year to complete.

Phase Il

Phase Il is initiated only if the results from phase Il are
sufficiently encouraging to justify further studies. In this
phase, the candidate drug is given to larger groups, often
1,000-5,000 patients. The new medicine is tested against
an ineffective placebo or against another already approved
drug for the same disease condition. Patients are distributed
randomly among the drugs and neither the physician nor the
patients know which of the products has been administered
to each patient. This type of trial is known as a “"double-blind
and randomised"” trial and is considered to be the method
that produces the best and most objective evaluation. Only
once the trial has been completed is it revealed which pa-
tients received the new drug and which received the placebo.
Itis then possible to determine and evaluate what effect the
new drug had compared with the placebo. The studies pro-
vide a statistical basis, which means that the difference bet-
ween the two products must be statistically evident. Phase
Il can take anywhere from one to four years to complete
depending on the disease, the length of time during which
the patients are studied and the number of patients included.

Phase IV

In phase IV, the drug’s therapeutic use is studied. After the
phase |-l studies have been completed and a drug has been
approved by the drug regulator and launched in the market,
further clinical studies are often conducted in the area of use
for which the product has already been approved. These are
known as phase IV studies and are aimed at studying and
monitoring the dose and effect relation, the impact on other,
simultaneous drug treatments, and any side effects which
occur after the market launch. The overall objective is to op-
timise the use of the drug.
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REGISTRATION PHASE

If the drug looks promising and is tolerated well by the patients, further trials are con-
ducted to verify the results. After that, an application for approval is filed with the relevant
agency for the evaluation of medical products, which in Europe is normally the common
European Medicines Agency (EMA). The application must include all documentation de-
scribing the product’s quality, safety and effect and can run into hundreds of thousands
of pages. It takes on average one year to examine an application. The examination can
result in the drug being approved or rejected, or the regulator may demand that further
studies be conducted. An approval can also involve the regulator approving a more limited
indication than was originally intended. Once regulatory approval has been obtained, the
drug can be marketed.

Research and development costs for drug development are high, running into billions of
kronor, and of 10-15 products that enter phase | studies, normally only one goes all the
way to regulatory approval. About 35 new medical products are introduced in the Swedish
market every year.

MARKET OVERVIEW






DIRECTORS REPORT

The Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of
Cantargia AB (publ), corporate ID no. 556791-6015,
hereby present the annual report for the financial year
1 January 2017 — 31 December 2017. The company
has its registered office in Lund, Sweden. Amounts in
the annual report are stated in thousands of Swedish
kronor (kSEK) unless otherwise indicated.

FIVE-YEAR COMPARISON '
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OPERATIONS

Cantargia is a research-based biotech company that is enga-
ged in research and development of antibody-based therapy for
serious diseases. The company has specialised in antibody-ba-
sed treatment aimed at the IL1RAP target molecule, which has
the potential to be used for several different forms of cancer as
well as for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

Amounts in kSEK 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Net sales - - - - -
Loss after net financial income/expense -60,253 -47,490 -17,190 -8,370 -7.946
Cash and bank balances and liquid investments3 149,781 25,904 24,512 16,660 1,496
Equity 246,120 30,035 28,055 4,097 3,132
Total assets 274,453 39,715 31,383 20,129 3,990
Equity/assets ratio (%) 90% 76% 89% 20% 78%
Quick ratio (%) 958% 383% 803% 108% 259%
Direct project development costs -44,819 -35,493 -7,045 -3,495 -5,773
Total operating expenses -60,009 -47,557 -17,018 -8,115 -7,978
Direct project development costs to total operating 75% 75 £1% 439% 729
expenses (%)

Number of outstanding shares at 31 Dec? 46,940,508 20,917,200 13,505,874 7,594,874 6,342,910
Number of outstanding warrants at 31 Dec 85,000 - 8,283,080 157,250 157,250
Earnings per share before dilution -1.28 -2.27 -1.27 -1.10 -1.25
Earnings per share after dilution n/a n/a -1.24 n/a n/a
Equity per share before dilution 5.24 1.24 2.08 0.54 0.49

Dividend (SEK)

Cantargia AB (publ) has applied Recommendation RFR 2 Financial Reporting for Legal Entities of the Swedish Financial Reporting Board

(RFR 2) as of the full year 2017. The comparative year 2016 has been restated in accordance with RFR 2. Earlier comparative years have not
been restated, which means that the financial statements for the years 2014-2015 were prepared in accordance with the K3 regulations while
the 2013 financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and the General Recommendations of the

Swedish Accounting Standards Board.

2|t should be noted that, as at 31 December 2017, 19,245,303 interim certificates had been issued, which were registered on 8 January 2018.

The figure for 2015 has been adjusted for a 37:1 split.

3In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the company had short-term investments of kSEK 120,000 (8,937) at 31 December 2017.

Definitions

Cash and bank balances and liquid investments - cash and available deposits with banks and other credit institutions.
Equity/assets ratio - Adjusted equity as a percentage of total assets

Quick ratio - Current assets as a percentage of current liabilities

Direct project development costs - The sum of external costs in Preclinical, Clinical, CMC and Patents.
Earnings per share - Profit for the year divided by number of outstanding shares at end of period
Equity per share - Equity divided by number of shares at end of period
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SHAREHOLDERS

Cantargia's ten largest shareholders at 31 December 2017 *).

Shareholder Number of shares Share

First Swedish National Pension Fund (AP1)
Lund University Bioscience AB **)

Fourth Swedish National Pension Fund (AP4)
Sunstone Life Science Ventures Fund Ill K/S
Second Swedish National Pension Fund (AP2)
Forsakringsaktiebolaget Avanza Pension
SEB S.A. Clients Assets Ucits
Handelsbankens Lakemedelsfond

Brushamn Invest AB

Kudu AB

Other, total

Total number of registered shares, 31 Dec 2017

Interim certificates 171129 (not converted into
shares)

TOTAL ISSUED

4,550,000 9.7%
4,056,828 8.6%
2,750,000 5.9%
2,295,684 4.9%
2,200,000 4.7%
1,936101 4.1%
1,900,182 4.0%
1,000,000 2.1%
792,577 1.7%
764,136 1.6%
24,695,000 52.6%
46,940,508 100.0%
19,245,303
66,185,811

*) The list of shareholders (10 largest) as at 31 December 2017 excludes 19,245,303 inte-
rim certificates which had not been converted at that date. These include 3,676,470 shares
subscribed by Sunstone Life Science Ventures Fund Il K/S, 294,117 shares subscribed by
Brushamn Invest AB and 73,529 shares subscribed by Kudu AB.

**) The company was liquidated in 2018 and the shareholding was distributed to the owners.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
FINANCIAL YEAR

The following is @ summary of events that took place in the
company during the year.

Patent portfolio

Cantargia currently has four patent portfolios (as described

in the section Patent portfolio). Several important approvals

were obtained during the year.

= The company'’s patent application for its CANO4 product
candidate was approved in Europe and the United States.
The patent protects CANO4 until 2035, both as a substance
and specifically for treatment of various forms of cancer.

= Inits application for IL1RAP as target molecule for antibo-
dy-based therapy of acute lymphoblastic leukemia, Can-
targia received patent approval in China during the period.
The Chinese patent office also approved Cantargia's pa-
tent application for IL1RAP as target molecule for anti-
body therapy of several types of solid tumour.

= TheUSPTOissuedaNotice of Allowance for the company’s
second, follow-up patent application, no. 15/196,795, in
the solid tumours patent family.

Research activities

In 2017, Cantargia reported that CANO4 had been shown to
have good safety characteristics in two separate GLP studies
— a toxicity study and a study looking at how CANO4 binds
to tissue from healthy volunteers. In May 2017, an applica-
tion for permission to start clinical trials was submitted and
in July 2017 Cantargia received approval to initiate its CAN-
FOUR clinical study for treatment of patients with different
forms of cancer. In the autumn, Cantargia announced that
the first patient had been treated on three occasions with the
CANO4 antibody, thus formally completing the safety evalua-
tion prescribed in the clinical protocol. At same time, the first
results of the clinical study of the first three patients in the
first dose group were published. No serious side effects had
been documented.

During the year, results generated in preclinical studies with
CANO4 were also presented at the joint meeting of the Eu-
ropean, American and ltalian cancer research organisations
EACR, AACR and SIC in Florence. The studies showed that
ILTRAP is expressed in cell lines from triple negative breast
cancer and non-small cell lung cancer, and that CANO4 can
block and kill the same cell lines.



During the vear, Cantargia concluded a partnership agree-
ment with Panorama Research Inc. (“Panorama”), a Califor-
nia-based company specialising in antibody development.
Panorama will invest in Cantargia's CANxx project in ex-
change for a portion of future revenues from third parties or
future sales. The parties will jointly engage in intensive devel-
opment focused on autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

Financial events

In January 2017, Cantargia raised approximately SEK 72.5
million before issue costs. Later in the year, Cantargia com-
pleted a directed share issue and a rights issue, raising a fur-
ther SEK 232 million for an expanded clinical programme on
CANO4. Cantargia thus has the financing it needs to expand
its clinical development programme for CANO4 and acceler-
ate the development of CANxx. Several institutional investors
participated in the directed share issue, strengthening the
company'’s shareholder base. During the year, the company
also decided to apply for listing on the main list of Nasdaq
Stockholm in 2018.

REVENUE AND EARNINGS

Cantargia’s net sales in 2017 were kSEK 0 (0). The compa-
ny incurred operating expenses of kSEK -60,009 (-47,557),
which is also the operating loss for the year. The increased
operating expenses are explained by the intensification of ac-
tivities during the year in connection with the CANO4 product
candidate reaching the clinical phase. Project costs therefore
increased by kSEK -9,326. The average number of employ-
ees also increased during the year and personnel expenses
consequently increased by kSEK -1,277 compared with the
previous year. The company incurred a net financial expense
of kSEK -254 (65) due to a weaker Swedish krona. The loss
for the year was kSEK -60,253 (-47,490).

FINANCIAL POSITION

The company’s financial position was strengthened during
the year as a result of the completed share offerings. Total
assets were kSEK 274,453 (39,715), of which kSEK 0 (0) re-
fers to intangible assets following the adjustment that was
made in connection with the transition to financial report-
ing in accordance with RFR 2 (IFRS), see Note 23. Cash and
cash equivalents at year-end were kSEK 149,781 (25,904).
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the company has
short-term investments in funds of kSEK 120,000 (8,937),
which are liquid in the short term. Equity at year-end was
kSEK 246,120 (30,035) and the share capital was kSEK 3,755
(1,673). The equity/assets ratio at the end of the period was
90 (76) per cent. Equity per share was SEK 5.24 (1.24). The
company has no interest-bearing liabilities.

CASH FLOW

The company'’s cash flow for the year was kSEK 123,877
(16,263).
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Cash flow from operating activities before changes in work-
ing capital was negative, kSEK -60,253 (-47,490), while
cash flow from changes in working capital was positive,
kSEK 19,150 (5,152), due to unsettled issue costs of kSEK
17,610. Cash flow from operating activities was thus kSEK
-41,103 (-42,338).

Cash flow from investments was kSEK -111,063 (4,849), of
which the change in short-term investments accounts for
by far the dominant share. Investments in intangible assets
were kSEK 0 (0) in accordance with the application of RFR
2 and investments in long-term financial assets were kSEK
-295 (-1,085).

The share offerings that were completed during the year
had a positive impact on cash flow of kSEK 276,266 after
capital acquisition costs. Total cash flow from financing ac-
tivities was kSEK 276,338 (53,752).

INVESTMENTS

Total non-current assets at 31 December 2017 were kSEK
2,957 (2,662), all of which refers to provisions for any future
severance pay. The company currently does not capitalise
any development costs, which are expensed directly in the
income statement.



SHARE INFORMATION
Cantargia's shares have been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm First North since 17 March
2015, under the ticker “CANTA" At 31 December 2017, Cantargia had a share capital of
SEK 3,755,240.64. The number of shares of Cantargia at the same date was 46,940,508.

Share capital history
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Year Event Quotient Increase in no. Increase in sh-are Total no. of Total sh.are

value of shares capital shares capital
2009 Incorporation 1.00 100,000 100,000,00 100,000 100,000,00
2010 Issue of new shares 1.00 10,870 10,870,00 110,870 110,870,00
2011 Issue of new shares 1.00 14,130 14,130,00 125,000 125,000,00
2012 Issue of new shares 1.00 3,571 3,571,00 128,571 128,571,00
2012 Issue of new shares 1.00 7,143 7,143,00 135,714 135,714,000
2012 Issue of new shares 1.00 7,143 7,143,00 142,857 142,857,00
2013 Issue of new shares 1.00 3,572 3,572,00 146,429 146,429,00
2013 Issue of new shares 1.00 25,001 25,001,00 171,430 171,430,00
2014 Issue of new shares 1.00 12,500 12,500,00 183,930 183,930,00
2014 Bonus issue 2.96 - 360,502,80 183,930 544,432,80
2014 37:1 share split 0.08 6,621,480 - 6,805,410 544,432,80
2014 Debt-for-equity swap 0.08 789,464 63,157,12 7,594,874 607,589,92
2015 Issue 0.08 5,800,000 464,000,00 13,394,874 1,071,589,92
2015 Issue of new shares, TO 2010:1 0.08 111,000 8,880,00 13,505,874 1,080,469,92
2016 Issue of new shares, TO1/703 0.08 4,127,260 330,180,80 17,633,134 1,410,650,72
2016 Issue of new shares, 0.08 46,250 3,700,00 17,679,384 1,414,350,72

2011/2016

2016 Issue of new shares, T02/T04 0.08 3,237,816 259,025,28 20,917,200 1,673,376,00
2017 Issue of new shares 0.08 11,158,308 892,664,64 32,075,508 2,566,040,64
2017 Issue of new shares 0.08 14,865,000 1,189,200,00 46,940,508 3,755,240,64
2018 Issue of new shares 0.08 19,245,303 1,539,624,24 66,185,811 5,294,864,88

On 8 January 2018, 19,245,303 interim certificates were converted into registered ordinary shares

in connection with the completion of a rights issue.



RISK FACTORS

A number of risk factors can have a negative impact on the
operations of Cantargia. It is therefore very important to take
account of relevant risks in addition to assessing the com-
pany's growth prospects. A description of risk factors, not in
order of importance and not exhaustive, is given below. For
natural reasons, it is not possible to assess all risk factors
without making a general assessment of the company'’s op-
erations and external factors. See also Note 3 Financial risk
management.

Research and development and dependence on one
candidate drug

Cantargia is engaged in research and development of an an-
tibody treatment for various forms of cancer, with a focus on
non-small cell lung cancer and pancreatic cancer. The compa-
ny has not yet launched any candidate drugs in the market. No
sales of drugs have therefore been initiated, and Cantargia's
operations have so far not generated any sales revenue. In
2017, clinical development of the company's candidate drug,
CANO4, was initiated.

The development of CANO4 is associated with significant risks
of failure and/or that the results will be such that continued
research and development will be required. These risks include
the risk that the company's drug will prove to be ineffective,
dangerous, toxic or otherwise fail to meet the applicable re-
quirements or that the candidate drug will prove to be difficult
to develop into a commercially viable product that generates
revenue for the company. There is also a risk that delays and
unexpected difficulties in the development (for example, pro-
duction or clinical studies) could incur additional costs for the
company. In the event that the development of CANO4 fails,
this would have a significant adverse impact on Cantargia's
operations, financial position and results, and there is a risk
that Cantargia would not be able to continue its operations in
their current form.

Implementation of preclinical and clinical studies
Before a drug can be launched in the market, its safety and
efficacy for treatment of humans must be assured, which re-
quires extensive preclinical and clinical studies. Such studies
are associated with significant uncertainty and risks with re-
gard to timetables, results and outcomes. Results from early
clinical studies are not always consistent with the results of
more comprehensive clinical studies. There is a risk that the
planned studies will not indicate levels of safety and efficacy
that are sufficient to obtain the required regulatory permits
or to enable the company to license, establish partnerships
for or sell its potential product. The results from preclinical
and clinical studies could also result in Cantargia being re-
quired to conduct expanded studies. Such studies could re-
sultinincreased costs, materially delay the registration with
the licensing authorities, result in registration of a more lim-
ited indication or cause Cantargia to refrain from commer-
cialising its product candidate.
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Cantargia, any future business partners, institutional con-
trol bodies and/or regulatory authorities could, moreover, at
any time suspend clinical trials if it is assumed that the trial
subjects or patients participating in such studies are being
exposed to unacceptable health risks. For example, patients
participating in the studies could experience side effects,
which could delay or prevent further product development.
The risk that a product will have negative effects remains
even after any market authorisation is granted. A product
that has already been approved can thus be withdrawn from
the market if, for example, it is found to be inadequate from
a safety perspective. The aforementioned risks could have
a significant negative impact on the company'’s operations,
financial position and results.

Regulatory permits and registrations

To be approved for preclinical and clinical studies and/or to ob-
tain the right market and sell a drug, all candidate drugs under
development need to go through a comprehensive registra-
tion process and be approved by the relevant regulator in an
individual market, such as the US Food and Drug Administra-
tion (“FDA") or European Medicines Agency ("EMA"). The regis-
tration process covers, for example and where applicable, re-
quirements relating to the development, testing, registration,
approval, labelling, production and distribution of new drugs.
If such requirements, whether existing or such as may be in-
troduced in future, are not met, this could result, for example,
in the recall of products, a suspension of imports, registration
being declined, the withdrawal of previous approvals of ap-
plications or charges being brought. If a drug that has been
developed by Cantargia is registered for commercialisation,
there is arisk that Cantargia will not be able to meet new rules
or will be unable to maintain its registration or obtain equiva-
lent permits for any further drugs.

There s also a risk that the rules which currently apply for reg-
istration, or interpretations of these rules, will be amended in
a way that is to the disadvantage of Cantargia. Authorities are
not bound by the advice they provide during the development
process, but can change their assessments, which could lead
to delays caused by necessary changes to the research and
development programme. Authorities may also make differ-
ent assessments than Cantargia, for example with regard to
the interpretation of data from studies or the quality of data. In
the event that Cantargia does not obtain the required product
approvals or in the event that any future approvals are with-
drawn or limited, this could have significant negative effects
on Cantargia's operations, financial position and results.

Changes in economic activity and the pricing of drugs
The pricing and demand for pharmaceutical drugs could be ad-
versely affected by a general economic decline in major phar-
maceuticals markets.



CANTARGIA AB (PUBL) 556791-6019 * ANNUAL REPORT 2017
DIRECTORS’' REPORT

A general economic decline could, for example, affect payers of
healthcare, including public authorities, insurance companies
and hospitals, and result in a reduced willingness to pay for
pharmaceutical drugs. This, coupled with, for example, other
changes in the budgets of such payers, could result in reduced
payments for pharmaceutical companies, including Cantargia
in the event that Cantargia in future receives relevant approv-
als for its products. In certain countries, the pricing of drugs is
determined at the regulatory level and, in case of the launch
of drugs, the pricing could thus be regulated by authorities in
several countries. A deterioration in general economic condi-
tions and/or regulatory decisions could therefore result in a
lower pricing of the drug projects than expected by Cantargia,
which could have a significant negative impact on the com-
pany's operations, financial position and results.

Partnerships, licensing and marketing

Cantargia is and will in future be dependent on partnerships in
connection with the development of candidate drugs, preclini-
cal and clinical studies, and licensing/partnerships for any future
sale of drugs. Of particular importance for the company’s cur-
rent operations are its partnerships with Celonic Biotechnology
GmbH and BioWa Inc. for the manufacture and production of
CANO4 and its partnership with Specialized Medical Services-
oncology BV ("SMS-oncology") for the performance of the com-
pany's first clinical study with CANOL. In the event that these or
future partnerships were to be terminated, there is a risk that
the company would be unable, on short notice, to conclude con-
tracts with suitable new business partners, which could have a
significant negative impact on the company's operations, finan-
cial position and results.

If current or future external partners were to fail to fulfil their
obligations or keep to the agreed timetables, if the external par-
ties were to fail to acquire sufficient necessary material for the
development of the candidate drug, if the quality or reliability of
the clinical information they obtain is neglected or if confiden-
tiality concerning research results in concluded research agree-
ments for one reason or another cannot be maintained, the on-
going or planned preclinical and clinical trials could be rendered
more difficult, delayed or terminated completely, which would
have a significant negative impact on the company's operations
and its ability to license or commercialise its product.

Finally, there is a risk that one or more of Cantargia's current
or future manufacturers and suppliers will choose to end their
collaboration with the company. Moreover, and in the event
that the development of CANO4 proceeds successfully, Cantar-
gia will also be dependent on external parties for marketing and
sales. If the company is not successful in its attempts to con-
clude future or maintain existing partnership agreements for its
product candidate, this could have a significant negative impact
on Cantargia’s operations, financial position and results.

Development of further candidate drugs

In addition to CANO4, Cantargia intends to continue its re-
search into and engage in further development in the CANxx
project, which is aimed at generating a new antibody against

the ILTRAP target molecule for treatment of autoimmune/
inflammatory diseases. There is a risk that Cantargia’s avail-
able financial resources will prove insufficient to conduct such
development and that the company, as a result thereof, may
be forced to discontinue development or find other sources of
financing or, alternatively, that the company’s work on CANO4
may suffer. Continuing the further development of CANxx
could create a need to expand the company's organisational
resources, which could incur further costs for the company.
There is thus a risk that the company’s work on further can-
didate drugs will have a negative impact on its operations, fi-
nancial position and results. To partially balance the above risk,
Cantargia concluded a partnership agreement with Panorama
Research Inc., a California-based company specialising in anti-
body development, in June 2017. Through the partnership, the
parties will jointly engage in intensive development of CANxx
with a focus on autoimmune and inflammatory diseases.

Financing and capital requirements

Since starting its operations Cantargia has been reporting an
operating loss and cash flow is expected to remain mainly
negative until Cantargia succeeds in generating revenue
from a launched product. The company’s planned preclinical
and clinical studies will entail significant costs and the com-
pany's development of its product candidate could prove more
time- and cost-consuming than planned. Cantargia will also
continue to need significant capital for research and develop-
ment in order to conduct preclinical and clinical studies with
CANO4 and for its continued research into and development of
CANxx. Access to and the terms and conditions for further fi-
nancing are affected by several factors, such as the possibility
of concluding partnership agreements and general access to
risk capital. If Cantargia, wholly or partly, were to fail to acquire
sufficient capital, or succeed in doing so only on unfavourable
terms, this could have a significant negative impact on the
company's operations, financial position and results.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to tough competition
and there are several potential competitors to Cantargia and
its future business partners, such as universities and research
institutions. Some of the company's competitors are multina-
tional companies with significant financial resources and great-
er capacity in terms of research and development, for example,
or contacts with regulators than Cantargia. If a competitor suc-
ceeds in developing and launching an effective cancer drug, this
could have a negative impact on the company’s ability to gener-
ate revenue.

Furthermore, technology that is controlled by outside parties
and that could be of use for the company's operations could be
acquired or licensed by Cantargia's competitors, and thereby
prevent Cantargia from obtaining such technology on commer-
cially acceptable terms, or at all.

Competitors with greater resources could also successfully
market a similar or even an inferior drug and obtain wider rec-
ognition in healthcare in general for such a drug, which could



have a negative impact on the company’s operations, financial
position and results.

Dependence on key individuals and employees
Cantargia is dependent on a number of key individuals for the
continued development of the company's operations and pre-
clinical and clinical projects. Cantargia's ability to retain and re-
cruit qualified employees is of great significance for assuring a
high level of expertise in the company. There is, however, a risk
that one or several of the company's employees will terminate
their employment with the company or that the company will
fail to recruit new individuals with relevant knowledge, which
could delay the company’s development and commercialisa-
tion of its candidate drug. In the event that the company were
to lose any of its employees, this could, at least in the short
term, have a negative impact on the company’s operations,
financial position and results.

The employment contracts for several of Cantargia's employ-
ees give the employee a right to terminate his employment
with the company with immediate effect in the event of a
change in the employee's terms of employment as a result of
changes in the company’s ownership structure. In the event
that an employee terminates his employment contract on this
basis or if the company gives dismisses the employee within
a twelve-month period of the change in ownership structure,
the company will be obliged to pay six months’ severance pay
to the employee. If the terms of employment were to change
as a result of a change of ownership there is a risk that several
employees will choose to terminate their employment under
their employment contracts, which could have a significant
negative impact on the company’s operations, financial posi-
tion and results.

Patents and other intellectual property rights
Cantargia’s potential success is dependent on the company's
ability to obtain and maintain patent protection of its future
products, applications and production methods. There is a
risk that it will not be possible to obtain patent protection for
drugs and production methods developed by Cantargia, that
Cantargia will be unable to register and complete all neces-
sary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or
that a future patent portfolio and other intellectual property
rights held by the company will not provide adequate com-
mercial protection. There is also a risk that a patent will not
create a competitive advantage for the company’s drugs and/
or methods or that competitors will succeed in circumvent-
ing the company's patents. If Cantargia is forced to defend its
patent rights against a competitor this could entail significant
costs, especially in any disputes with competitors with signifi-
cantly greater resources than Cantargia.

If Cantargia in its own operations uses or is alleged to be using
products or methods which are protected by patents or will be
patented by another party, the holder of these patents could
accuse Cantargia of patent infringement. There is therefore a
risk that Cantargia will be drawn into processes or other pro-
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cedures for alleged infringements of patents or rights. Due to
the uncertainty that is associated with patent protection, the
outcome of such disputes is hard to predict. In case of a nega-
tive outcome for the company of such a process, Cantargia
could be liable to pay damages, be prohibited from continu-
ing the activity which constitutes an infringement and/or be
forced to acquire a licence to continue to produce or market
the products and/or methods covered.

The failure to maintain its own, and/or any infringement of
other parties; intellectual property rights could have a signifi-
cant negative impact on Cantargia’'s operations, financial posi-
tion and results.

Changes to laws and regulations, and regulatory
interpretations and practice

The pharmaceutical industry is heavily regulated by laws
and regulations covering the development process, approval
process, quality controls, documentation requirements and
pricing systems. Cantargia believes the company is follow-
ing these laws and regulations. There is, however, a risk that
new laws will be adopted, which, in an attempt to reduce
public healthcare costs, could materially change the regula-
tory framework which governs preclinical and clinical studies,
regulatory approvals, production and marketing of regulated
products and their pricing. Such changes, revisions and/or re-
interpretations could, for example, result in demands for fur-
ther preclinical and clinical studies, changed production meth-
ods and increased documentation requirements. Changes to
laws and regulations for drugs, in the US and the EU, as well
as in other major markets for pharmaceuticals, could result in
increased costs and could also have a significant negative im-
pact on Cantargia's operations, financial position and results.

Product liability

Cantargia's operations are subject to various liability risks that
are common for companies engaged in drug research and de-
velopment. This includes the risk of product liability that can
arise in connection with production and clinical studies where
the participating patients can experience side effects or fall ill
during treatment. There is a risk that product liability claims
could have a significant negative impact on Cantargia's opera-
tions, financial position and results.

Insurance cover

Cantargia believes it has appropriate insurance cover for its
current operations. There is, however, a risk that such cover
will prove insufficient for claims that could arise in relation
to product liability and other damage. Furthermore, it is not
certain that the company will be able to maintain its insur-
ance cover on favourable terms, or at all. There is therefore a
risk that insufficient or excessively expensive insurance cover
could have a significant negative impact on the company's op-
erations, financial position and results.
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Disputes and legal actions

In 2016, a German company filed objections to Cantargia’s Eu-
ropean patents related to antibodies against IL1RAP for treat-
ment of leukemia and solid tumours. Following the comple-
tion of the opposition proceedings in early 2018, the European
Patent Office ruled that Cantargia’s patents should remain
unchanged. Other than these objections, Cantargia is current-
ly not involved in any legal actions with third parties or with
regulatory or managing authorities. Nor can the company rea-
sonably predict any such action. There is, however, a risk that
the company may be involved in such future disputes related
to its ongoing activities. Such disputes could relate to alleged
infringements of intellectual property rights, the validity of
certain patents and other commercial disputes. Disputes and
claims can be time-consuming, disrupt the operations, relate
to significant amounts or important matters of principle, and
incur significant costs and have a significant impact on the
company's operations, financial position and results.

Currency risk

Assets, liabilities, income and expenses in foreign currency
give rise to currency exposures. A weakening of the Swedish
krona (SEK) against other currencies increases the recognised
amounts of Cantargia's assets, liabilities, income and earnings
while a strengthening of the SEK against other currencies de-
creases these items. The company is exposed to such changes,
as parts of the company'’s costs are paid in EUR and other in-
ternational currencies and because a part of the company’s
future sales revenue may be received in international curren-
cies. A material change in such exchange rates could have a
negative impact on the company'’s financial statements, which
in turn could have negative effects on Cantargia’s financial po-
sition and results. See also Note 3.

Tax losses

In view of the fact that Cantargia’'s operations have generated
significant deficits, the company has significant accumulated
tax losses. Changes in ownership resulting in a change in con-
trol over the company could restrict (wholly or partly) the com-
pany’s ability to use such losses in future. The company'’s abil-
ity to use the losses in future could also be adversely affected
by changes in the applicable legislation. Such restrictions of the
right to use the company's accumulated tax losses could have
negative effects on Cantargia's financial position and results.

ORGANISATION

One of Cantargia's key success factors is the company's em-
ployees. The average number of employees of the company
during the year was 5 (4), of whom 2 (1) is a woman. The num-
ber of employees at year-end was 5 (&) full-time equivalents,
of whom 2 (1) is a woman. The level of education among the
employees is high. All five employees hold PhDs in medicine or
natural sciences.

In addition to its employees, Cantargia engages a number of
consultants who are tied to the business on a continuous basis.
The large network with which Cantargia works ensures access
to top-level expertise, flexibility and cost effectiveness.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The majority of the company'’s resources are used for research
and development.

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT

Cantargia AB does not engage in activities requiring a permit
under the Swedish Environmental Code, as the company does
not engage in the production of pharmaceuticals or pharmaceu-
tical substances and does not handle solvents and chemicals.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE

FINANCIAL YEAR

In January 2018, the United States Patent and Trademark Of-
fice (USPTO) notified Cantargia that it had issued a Notice of
Allowance for the company’s second, follow-up patent appli-
cation, no. 15/196,795, in the solid tumours patent family.

In January, the Chinese patent office formally approved Can-
targia's patent application for IL1RAP as target molecule for
antibody therapy of several types of solid tumour. The ap-
proved patent has the number ZL201280014136.7.

In 2016, a third party filed oppositions to two of Cantargia’s
patents in Europe. One of the patents relates to IL1RAP as tar-
get molecule for treatment of hematological cancer while the
other relates to solid tumours. In January this year, the Euro-
pean Patent Office decided that both patents should remain
unchanged.

Cantargia's Nominating Committee for the Annual General
Meeting 2018 has been appointed and consists of Claus An-
dersson (Sunstone Life Science VVentures), Mats Larsson (First
AP Fund) and Jannis Kitsakis (Fourth AP Fund).

In February 2018, the United States Patent and Trademark
Office (USPTO) notified Cantargia that it had issued a Notice
of Allowance for the company’s second, follow-up patent ap-
plication, no. 15/242,242, in the hematological cancer family.

In March 2018, Cantargia was able to show that antibody
treatment of IL1RAP signalling had been found to reduce me-
tastases in an experimental cancer model. The results of this
preclinical in vivo study point to a new mechanism for prevent-
ing the spread of metastases. The results were presented at
the 2018 Annual Meeting of the American Association for Can-
cer Research in Chicago on 14-18 April. The presentation is
available on Cantargia's website, www.cantargia.com.



OUTLOOK FOR 2018

Cantargia’s objective is to develop, patent and document can-
didate drugs for use in cancer therapy. The plan is to eventu-
ally sell or license such candidate drugs to companies oper-
ating in Cantargia's field of activity. The objective for 2018 is
to continue the clinical phase I/lla CANFOUR study that was
initiated in 2017 with a focus on examining non-small cell lung
cancer and pancreatic cancer. Continued preclinical studies will
be conducted to support clinical development, primarily in the
selected cancer indications, which will, for example, involve
developing biomarkers.

APPROPRIATION OF RETAINED EARNINGS
Proposed appropriation of retained earnings. The Annual
General Meeting is asked to resolve on the appropriation of
the following:

Loss brought forward -89,602,415
Share premium account 390,608,485
Loss for the year -60,252,705

240,753,365

The Board of Directors proposes that: SEK 240,753,365 be
carried forward.

For more information on the company’s results and financial
position, see the following income statement and balance
sheet and the additional disclosures.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

1Jan 2017 1Jan 2016
(kSEK) Note -31 Dec 2017 -31 Dec 2016
Operating income
Net sales - -
Operating expenses
Project costs -44,819 -35,493
Other external expenses 6,8, 18 -6,917 -5,119
Personnel expenses 7,18 -8,064 -6,787
Other operating expenses 9,12 -210 -158
-60,009 -47,557
Operating loss -60,009 -47,557
Financial income and expense
Interest income and similar income 10 86 132
Interest expense and similar charges 10,12 =329 -65
-243 67
Loss before tax -60,253 -47,490
Tax for the period 11 0 0
Loss for the year *) 20 -60,253 -47,490
Earnings per share before and after dilution (SEK) based on average 20 -1.86 -2.72

number of shares

*) No items are recognised in other comprehensive income. Total com-
prehensive income is therefore same as profit/loss for the year.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE SHEET

(kSEK) Note 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 1Jan 2016

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Concessions, patents, licences and trademarks 23 - - -

Financial assets

Other securities held as non-current assets 13 2,957 2,662 1,577

2,957 2,662 1,577

Total non-current assets 2,957 2,662 1,577

Current assets

Other receivables 1,345 795 253

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 370 1,417 589

1,715 2,212 842

Short-term investments

Other short-term investments 14 120,000 8,937 14,871
120,000 8,937 14,871

Cash and bank balances

Cash and bank balances 15 149,781 25,904 9,641
149,781 25,904 9,641

Total current assets 271,496 37,053 25,354

TOTAL ASSETS 274,453 39,715 26,931
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BALANCE SHEET, CONT.

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Restricted equity

Share capital 16 3,755 1,673 1,080
Share capital not yet registered 1,612 - -
5,367 1,673 1,080

Non-restricted equity

Share premium account 390,608 117964 64,805
Retained earnings -89,602 -42,112 -23,087
Loss for the year -60,253 -47,490 -19,025

21 240,753 28,362 22,693
Total equity 246,120 30,035 23,773

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 23 = - -
Current liabilities

Trade payables 24 20,619 7,419 1,794
Tax liabilities 377 186 51
Other liabilities 221 167 194
Accrued expenses and deferred income 17 7,117 1,908 1,119

28,333 9,680 3,158

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 274,453 39,715 26,931
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Restricted equity Non-restricted equity Total
Paid-up not Ret earnings
regd share  Share pre- incl profit/ loss
(kSEK) Share capital cap mium account for year Total equity
Opening balance, 1 January 2017 1,673 - 117,964 -89,602 30,035
Loss for the period - - - -60,253 -60,253
Transactions with shareholders
Warrant scheme - 72 - - 72
Issue of new shares 2,082 1,540 300,857 - 304,479
Capital acquisition costs = = -28,213 - -28,213
2,082 1,612 272,644 - 276,338
Closing balance, 31 December 2017 3,755 1,612 390,608 -149,855 246,120
Closing balance, 31 December 2015 1,080 - 64,805 -37,830 28,055
Adjustments on transition to RFR 2 - - - -4,282 -4,282
Opening balance, 1 January 2016 1,080 - 64,805 -42,112 23,773
Loss for the period - - - -47,490 -47,490
Transactions with shareholders
Issue of new shares 593 - 55,632 - 56,225
Capital acquisition costs - - -2,473 - -2,473
593 = 53,159 - 53,752
Closing balance, 31 December 2016 1,673 - 117,964 -89,602 30,035
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

1Jan 2017 1)Jan 2016
(kSEK) Note -31 Dec 2017 -31 Dec 2016
Cash flow from operating activities
Operating loss -60,009 -47,557
Interest received etc. 10 86 132
Interest paid etc. 10 -329 -65
Cash flow from operating activities before changes in working capital
-60,253 -47,490
Changes in working capital
Change in receivables 497 -1,370
Change in trade payables 24 13,200 5,625
Changes in other current liabilities 5,453 897
19,150 5,152
Cash flow from operating activities -41,103 -42,338
Investing activities
Acquisition of concessions, patents, licences, etc. - -
Acquisition of other long-term securities 13 =295 -1,085
Changes in other short-term investments -111,063 5,934
Provisions = -
-111,358 4,849
Financing activities
Issue of new shares 304,479 56,225
Capital acquisition costs -28,213 -2,473
Issue of warrants 19 72 -
276,338 53,752
Change in cash and cash equivalents 123,877 16,263
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 25,904 9,641
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period *) 15 149,781 25,904

*) The company's cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and available deposits with banks and other credit institutions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1

General information

Cantargia AB (publ), with registered office in Lund, Sweden, was founded in 2010 and is a biotechnology company engaged in
research and development of antibody-based therapy for serious diseases. The company has specialised in antibody-based
treatment aimed at the target molecule Interleukin-1 Receptor Accessory Protein ("IL1RAP”), which has the potential to be used
against a number of different forms of cancer as well as for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. In its most advanced pro-
ject, Cantargia is developing the CANO4 antibody, which is double-acting. This means that it fights cancer both by activating the
immune system and by blocking signals that drive tumour growth.

The original discovery made by the research team behind Cantargia was that the specific target molecule, IL1RAP, was found on
cancer cells from patients with leukemia but not on normal stem cells in the bone marrow. In subsequent research, Cantargia has
shown that ILTRAP is also expressed on cancer cells in a large number of cancer diseases.

The group consists of the parent company Cantargia AB, corporate ID number 556791-6019.

Cantargia's shares have been listed on Nasdaq First North since 2015.

NOTE 2

Accounting policies and valuation principles

Significant accounting policies applied in preparing this annual report are described in the following. Unless otherwise stated,
these policies have been applied consistently for all the annual periods presented. This annual report was adopted by the Board
of Directors on 9 May 2018.

2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements

Cantargia AB has prepared its annual accounts in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and Recommendation RFR
2 Financial Reporting for Legal Entities of the Swedish Financial Reporting Board (RFR 2). RFR 2 states that a legal entity is re-
quired to apply the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, insofar as this is possible under the
Swedish Annual Accounts Act and Pension Obligations Vesting Act and with regard to the relationship between accounting and
taxation. The recommendation specifies the exemptions from and the additional disclosures that are required in relation to IFRS.

The annual report for 2017 is Cantargia’s first annual report to be prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and RFR
2. Cantargia has previously applied the Annual Accounts Act and General Recommendation BFNAR 2012:1 Annual Accounts and
Consolidated Financial Statements (K3) of the Swedish Accounting Standards Board. Historical financial information has been
restated as of 1 January 2016, which is the date of transition to RFR 2. Explanations concerning the transition from the previously
applied accounting policies to RFR 2 and a description of the effects of the restatement on the opening balance as at 1 January
2016 and closing balance as at 31 December 2016, and on comprehensive income for 2016 are provided in Note 23.

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with the applied regulations requires the use of critical accounting estima-
tes. Management is also required to make certain judgements in applying the company’s accounting policies. Areas which involve
a high degree of judgement, are complex or where assumptions and estimates have a material impact are described in Note 4.

2.1.1 Changes to accounting policies and disclosures
Standards, amendments and interpretations of existing standards which have not yet entered into force and have not been applied early

A number of new standards and interpretations will become effective for financial years beginning after 1 January 2018 and have
been applied in preparing these financial statements. The following is a preliminary assessment of the effects of these standards:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments deals with the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and liabilities. It replaces
those parts of IAS 39 which relate to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. Cantargia will not be affected by
the new rules for classification and measurement, as the company applies the exemption in RFR 2, under which financial instru-
ments may be recognised and measured based on cost in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. Cantargia is not yet generating
any income and thus has essentially no trade receivables. Cantargia's assessment is therefore that the company will not be affected
by the new impairment model at the transition date, 1 January 2018.
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The standard is applicable for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers regulates the accounting treatment of revenue. The principles on which IFRS 15 is
based are intended to give users of financial statements additional valuable information about a company's revenue. Cantargia is not
yet generating any revenue and therefore does not expect to be affected by the transition to the new revenue recognition standard
when it takes effect on 1 January 2018. The standard is applicable for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

IFRS 16 Leases will replace IAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations IFRIC 4, SIC-15 and SIC-27. The standard requires that as-
sets and liabilities attributable to all leases, with a few exceptions, be recognised in the balance sheet. The standard is applicable for

financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted. Cantargia does not expect that it will be affected

by the new lease standard, as the company is likely to apply the exemption from IFRS 16 in RFR 2 and will continue to account for all
leases in accordance with a model that is similar to the model for operating leases in IAS 17, i.e. lease payments will be expensed on
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

No other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that have not yet become effective are expected to have a material impact on Cantargia.

2.1.2 Formats

The format prescribed in the Swedish Annual Accounts Act is used for the income statement and balance sheet. The statement
of changes in equity is presented in the format prescribed in IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements but must contain the
columns indicated in the Annual Accounts Act.

2.2 Segment reporting

Cantargia's chief operating decision maker is the company's Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), as it is primarily he who is responsible
for the allocation of resources and evaluation of results. The CEO receives reports containing financial information for Cantargia
as a whole. Cantargia has not yet commercialised any part of the development projects in which it is engaged and therefore is not
yet generating any income. All activities of Cantargia are considered to constitute a single operating segment.

2.3 Intangible assets

Research and development costs

Cantargia is a research-based biotech company that is engaged in research and development of antibody-based therapy for
serious diseases. All expenditure directly attributable to the development and testing of identifiable and unique products which
are controlled by Cantargia is accounted for as an intangible asset when the following criteria are met:

= itis technically feasible to complete the product so that it will be available for use,

= Cantargia intends to complete the product for use or sale,

= there is reason to expect that the company will be able to use or sell the product,

= it can be shown that the product will generate probable future economic benefits,

= adequate technical, economic and other resources are available to complete the development of and use or sell the product, and
= the costs attributable to the product during its development can be reliably measured.

The overall risk in ongoing development projects is high. The risk includes safety and efficacy risks that can arise in clinical
studies, regulatory risks related to applications and approval for clinical studies and marketing authorisation, as well as IP risks
related to approval of patent applications and the maintenance of patents. All development work is therefore deemed to be re-
search, as the work does not meet the criteria listed above. As at 31 December 2017 no development costs had been recognised
as intangible assets in the balance sheet, as it was not considered that all of the above criteria for capitalisation had been met for
any of the development projects in which the company is engaged.

Research expenditure is expensed as incurred.
(Capitalised development costs are recognised as intangible assets and amortised from the date when the asset is ready for use.
2.4 Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets which are not ready for use (capitalised development costs) are not amortised but are tested annually for impair-
ment. However, no capitalised development costs are currently recognised in Cantargia’s balance sheet.
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2.5 Leases

Cantargia is a lessee only under operating leases for office premises.

Leases in which a significant share of the risks and benefits of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made during the lease term (after deducting for any incentives from the lessor) are recognised as an expense in
the statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.6 Foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rates applying at the transaction date
or the date when the items were restated. Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income in other operating expenses (foreign exchange differences trade payables) and in net financial income/expense (foreign
exchange differences currency accounts).

2.7 Financial assets and liabilities

Recognition and derecognition in the balance sheet

A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the balance sheet when the company becomes a party to the contractual
terms and conditions of the instrument. A financial asset is derecognised in the balance sheet when the contractual right to the
cash flow from the asset expires or is settled. The same applies when the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset have es-
sentially been transferred to another party and the company no longer has control over the financial asset. A financial liability is
derecognised in the balance sheet when the contractual obligation is fulfilled or extinguished.

Measurement of financial instruments
Cantargia applies the exemption in RFR 2 under which IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement is not applied for
recognition and measurement of financial instruments. Instead, acquisition cost is applied in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

Financial assets are initially measured at acquisition cost including any transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

After initial recognition, current financial assets are measured at the lower of acquisition cost and net realisable value at the balance
sheet date.

Trade receivables and other receivables classified as current assets are measured individually at the amounts expected to be paid.
Interest-bearing financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Measurement of financial liabilities
Short-term trade payables are recognised at acquisition cost.

2.8 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit obligations

Cantargia has both defined contribution and defined benefit pension plans. Defined contribution pension plans are post-employ-
ment benefit plans under which the company pays fixed contributions into a separate legal entity. Cantargia has no legal or construc-
tive obligations to pay further contributions if this legal entity does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised as personnel expenses when they fall due.

Cantargia’s defined benefit pension plans consist of the ITP 2 plan’s defined benefit pension obligations. The ITP 2 plan’s defined
benefit pension obligations for retirement and family pensions are secured through an insurance policy with Alecta. According to a
statement from the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, UFR 10 Recognition of the ITP 2 Plan that is funded through an insurance
policy with Alecta, this is a defined benefit plan covering several employers. For the financial year 2017, Cantargia has not had ac-
cess to information that would enable it to account for its proportionate share of the plan’s obligations, assets and expenses. It has
therefore not been possible to recognise the plan as a defined benefit plan. The ITP 2 pension plan secured through an insurance
policy with Alecta is therefore accounted for as a defined contribution plan. The contribution for defined benefit retirement and family
pensions is calculated individually and depends on factors such as salary, previously earned pension and expected remaining period
of service. Anticipated contributions for the next reporting period for ITP2 insurance policies with Alecta are kSEK 74.

The collective funding ratio is defined as the market value of Alecta’s assets as a percentage of its commitments to policyholders
calculated using Alecta’s actuarial methods and assumptions, which do not comply with IAS 19.
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The collective funding ratio may normally varies within a range of 125 and 155 per cent. If Alecta’s collective funding ratio were
to fall below 125 per cent or exceed 155 per cent, it would be necessary to take measures that will enable the ratio return to the
normal range. In case of a low funding ratio, one measure that can be taken is to raise the agreed price for new policies and the
expansion of existing benefits. If the funding ratio is high, contributions can be reduced. At the end of the financial year 2017,
Alecta's surplus, as defined by the collective funding ratio, was 154 per cent (2016: 149 per cent) on a preliminary basis.

Short-term benefits
Short-term benefits are employee benefits which are payable within twelve months of the balance sheet date in the year in
which the employee earned the benefit, with the exception of post-employment benefits and termination benefits.

Short-term benefits include

1. salaries, social security contributions and other payroll costs,

2. paid short-term leave such as paid holiday and paid sick leave,

3. bonuses, and

4. non-monetary benefits such as health care for current employees.

Accounting treatment — paid short-term leave

Short-term benefits for paid leave that can be saved should be accounted for as an expense and current liability when the em-
ployees have performed the services which entitle them to future paid leave.

Short-term benefits for paid leave that are not saved should be recognised as an expense when the leave is taken.

Accounting treatment — bonus plans

The expected expense for profit sharing and bonuses should be recognised only if
1. the company has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and
2. the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are paid when an employee’s employment has been terminated by the company before the normal time of
retirement or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for such compensation. Cantargia recognises termination
benefits at the earliest of the following: (a) when the company can no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits; and (b) when the com-
pany recognises restructuring costs provided for under IAS 37 which involve the payment of severance pay. If the company has made an
offer to encourage voluntary redundancy, termination benefits are calculated based on the number of employees that are expected to
accept the offer. Benefits expiring more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

2.9 Tax

The tax on the profit for the year in the income statement consists of current tax and deferred tax. Current tax is calculated on
the taxable profit the period at the applicable tax rate. The actual tax expense is calculated based on the tax rules that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. However, deferred tax attributable to untaxed reser-
ves is accounted for separately, as untaxed reserves are recognised as a separate item in the balance sheet. Deferred tax liabilities
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differen-
ces can be wholly or partially offset.

Deferred tax is calculated by applying tax rates (and laws) which have been adopted or announced at the balance sheet date and
are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

2.10 Revenue
Interest income
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest method.
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2.11 Cash and cash equivalents and statement of cash flows

The statement of cash flows is prepared using the indirect method. The reported cash flow only includes transactions involving
incoming or outgoing payments. The company classifies cash, available deposits with banks and other credit institutions as cash
and cash equivalents.

2.12 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Transaction costs which are directly attributable to the issuance of new shares or options are recognised, net of tax, in equity less
a deduction from the proceeds of the issue.

2.13 Earnings per share
(i) Earnings per share before dilution
Earnings per share before dilution are calculated by dividing:

= profit/loss for the year
= with a weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares during the period

(i) Earnings per share after dilution
To calculate earnings per share after dilution, the amounts used in calculating earnings per share before dilution are adjusted by
taking into account:

= the weighted average of those additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding on the conversion of all potential
ordinary shares.

NOTE 3

Financial risk management

Through its activities, Cantargia is exposed to a wide range of financial risks: market risk (mainly currency risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. Cantargia's overall risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and strives to mini-
mise potential adverse effects on Cantargia's financial results.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

Cantargia is primarily exposed to EUR currency risk. Currency risks arise when future business transactions or recognised as-
sets or liabilities are expressed in a currency that is not the functional currency of the unit. In Cantargia, these transactions mainly
comprise purchases and trade payables in EUR. Cantargia currently does not engage in active management of currency risk. At the
end of the reporting period, Cantargia’s exposure to EUR was KEUR 8 (31 Dec 2016: kKEUR 581; 1 Jan 2016: KEUR 41) in the form of
outstanding trade payables. In addition to trade payables in EUR, the company has a EUR currency account which at 31 December
2017 had a balance of KEUR 2,948 (31 Dec 2016: KEUR O; 1 Jan 2016: kEUR 0).

If the Swedish krona had weakened/strengthened by 10 per cent against the EUR with all other variables held constant, the effect
related to supplier payments on profit/loss for the year and equity at 31 December 2017 would have been approximately SEK -3.4
million and SEK 3.4 million lower/higher (31 Dec 2016: SEK -2.1 million and SEK 2.1 million; 1 Jan 2016: SEK -0.3 million and SEK
0.3 million). The corresponding effect in respect of the company’s EUR currency account at 31 December 2017 would have been ap-
proximately SEK -2.9 million and SEK 2.9 million lower/higher (31 Dec 2016: SEK O million; 1 Jan 2016: SEK O million).

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest rate risk

Cantargia is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk for financial assets, as the majority of the company’s investments
consist of fixed-rate accounts. Only a small portion, kSEK 20,000 (31 Dec 2016; kSEK 8,937; 1 Jan 2016: kSEK 14,871) refers
to investments in fixed income funds, where the return is dependent on short-term interest rates. Cantargia does not have
financial liabilities exposed to interest rate risk, as the company has no borrowings.

(iii) Price risk

Cantargia is exposed to price risk from an investment in an endowment policy. The endowment policy consists of units in
Soderberg & Partners’ Trygghet 90 fund, which in turn is an investment in the sub-fund Amrego | SICAV. Amrego invests in
both equity and fixed income funds, and the composition of the fund varies over time. Dividends in the fund are dependent on
returns and are reinvested in the fund on an ongoing basis without distributions to the unit holders. Cantargia recognises the
fund at cost less any impairment on an ongoing basis, and any gain for Cantargia arises only on the sale of the units. Cantargia
considers the risk in the fund to be low. The carrying amount and fair value at the balance sheet date are presented in Note 13.
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Credit risk in Cantargia arises through deposits and investments with banks and financial institutions. All bank deposits and

investments are held with counterparties with low credit risk. Cantargia is not exposed to any significant credit risk, as all
counterparties are large, well known banks.

(c) Liquidity risk

Since starting its operations Cantargia has been reporting an operating loss and cash flow is expected to remain mainly nega-
tive until Cantargia succeeds in generating revenue from a launched product. The company's planned preclinical and clinical
studies will entail significant costs and the company’s development of its product candidate could prove more time- and cost-
consuming than planned. Cantargia will also continue to need significant capital for research and development in order to con-
duct preclinical and clinical studies with CANO4 and for its continued research into and development of IL1RAP. Access to and
the terms and conditions for further financing are affected by several factors, such as the possibility of concluding partnership
agreements and general access to risk capital. If Cantargia, wholly or partly, were to fail to acquire sufficient capital, or succeed
in doing so only on unfavourable terms, this could have a significant negative impact on the company’s operations, financial

position and results.

Cantargia uses rolling forecasts to ensure that the company has sufficient cash assets to meet its operational requirements.
This monitoring takes the form of reporting to the Board, whereby outcomes and forecasts are compared with the three-year

business plan that is produced and approved by the Board each vyear.

Surplus liquidity in Cantargia, in excess of what is required to manage working capital requirements, is invested in interest-
bearing current accounts. At the balance sheet date, Cantargia had short-term investments in six- and twelve-month fixed-

rate accounts of kSEK 50,000 and kSEK 50,000, respectively (31 Dec 2016: kKSEK 0; 1 Jan 2016: kSEK 0) and kSEK 20,000

invested in a short-term fixed income fund (31 Dec 2016: kSEK 8,937; 1 Jan 2016: kSEK 14,871). In addition to this, Cantargia
had bank deposits at the balance sheet date of kSEK 149,781 (31 Dec 2016: kSEK 25,904; 1 Jan 2016: kSEK 9,641).

The following table shows an analysis of Cantargia’s financial liabilities by remaining maturity from the balance sheet date. The
amounts indicated in the table are the contractual, undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 2 More than Total
months 2 months

31 December 2017

Trade payables 20,619 20,619

Other liabilities 221 221

Total 20,840 20,840
Less than 2 More than Total
months 2 months

31 December 2016

Trade payables 7,419 7,419

Other liabilities 167 167

Total 7,586 7,586
Less than 2 More than Total
months 2 months

1 January 2016

Trade payables 1,794 1,794

Other liabilities 194 194

Total 1,988 1,988
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(e) Management of capital

To maintain or adjust its capital structure, Cantargia can opt to return capital to the shareholders, issue new shares or sell
assets to reduce its liabilities.

In 2017, Cantargia’s strategy, which remained unchanged compared with 2016, was to secure the company's ability to con-
tinue as a going concern by driving the company'’s research projects in an optimal manner and thereby generate returns for its
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Cantargia also aims to maintain an optimal capital structure in order to keep
its capital costs down with a low to minimal risk. Cantargia is mainly engaged in research and development. The company’s
activities have been financed through a number of share offerings both before and after the listing of the company’s shares on
First North Stockholm on 17 March 2015. Equity is therefore regarded as the company’s capital.

NOTE 4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements and application of accounting policies are often based on judgements, estimates
and assumptions made by management which are deemed reasonable at the time when they are made. The estimates

and assumptions applied are based on historical experience and other factors which are deemed reasonable under current
circumstances. The results of these are then used to determine carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual outcomes may differ from these estimates and assessments.

Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Any changes are recognised in the period in which the change is made if
the change affects only that period, or in the period in which the change is made and future periods if the change affects both
the current and future periods.

The most critical judgement in Cantargia's financial reporting refers to the date of capitalisation of development costs. Based
on the accounting policies that are presented in Note 2, all development activities in which Cantargia is engaged are currently
classified as research, for which costs should not be capitalised. The achievement of positive results in phase Ill clinical trials is
the earliest point at which the criteria for capitalisation can be considered to be met.

NOTE 5

Segment information

Cantargia’s chief operating decision maker is the company’s Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), as it is primarily he who is respon-
sible for the allocation of resources and evaluation of results. The CEO receives reports containing financial information for
Cantargia as a whole. Cantargia has not yet commercialised any part of the development projects in which it is engaged and
therefore is not yet generating any income. All activities of Cantargia are considered to constitute a single operating segment.

NOTE 6

Auditors’ fees and expenses

Expensed audit fees for the financial year and expensed fees for other services provided by the company's auditors are presented
in the following.

2017 2016
PwC
Audit engagement* 134 123
Audit services in addition to audit engagement 23 34
Tax advisory services = -
Other services 97 -
Total 254 157

* Audit engagement refers to fees for the statutory audit, i.e. work which has been necessary to produce the audit report, as
well as audit advisory services provided in connection with the audit engagement.
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Employee benefits, etc.

Salaries and other benefits and social security contributions

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS @

2017 2016
Salaries and other benefits 4,728 3,714
Social security contributions 1,389 1,145
Retirement benefit costs, defined contribution 1,874 1,887
Other personnel expenses 76 41
Total employee benefits 8,066 6,787
Salaries and other benefits (of Retirement
2017 which bonuses) benefit costs
Directors, chief executives and other senior executives 5,074 1,823
Other employees 593 51
Total 5,667 1,874
(425)
Salaries and other benefits (of Retirement
2016 which bonuses) benefit costs
Directors, chief executives and other senior executives 4,414 1,887
Other employees - -
Total 4,414 1,887
(210)
Average number of employees
2017 2016

Number of Of which

Number of Of which

employees men employees men
Sweden
Total
Gender distribution for Directors and other senior executives
2017 2016
Number at ba- Number at balance

lance sheet date Of which men sheet date Of which men
Directors 7 5 6 5
Chief executives and other senior
executives S 4 4 3
Total 12 9 10 8

The contract between the company and CEO is subject to six months' notice by either party. Disclosures on benefits at

individual level for the CEO, Directors and other senior executives are presented in Note 18.



CANTARGIA AB (PUBL) 556791-6019 * ANNUAL REPORT 2017
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 8
Operating leases

2017

2016

Lease payments expensed during the financial year 218

226

The distribution of the nominal value of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases is as follows:

2017 2016
Due within one year 49 45
Due later than one year but within five years - -
Due later than five years - -
Total 49 45
Lease payments mainly comprise rent for premises.
NOTE9
Other operating expenses
2017 2016
Foreign exchange losses, trade payable -210 -158
Total -210 -158
NOTE 10
Financial income and expense
2017 2016
Interest income and similar income
Interest income 70 3
Value adjustment of short-term investments 16 129
Foreign exchange gains, currency accounts = -
Total 86 132
2017 2016
Interest expense and similar charges
Other interest expense -2 -1
Impairment of short-term investments -3 -63
Foreign exchange losses, currency accounts -324 -
Total -329 -65
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NOTE 11
Income tax
2017 2016
Current tax
Current tax on profit for the year 0 0
Adjustments relating to prior years = -
Total current tax/income tax 0 0

The difference between the reported tax expense and the applicable tax rate is explained by the following table.

2017 2016
Reconciliation of reported tax for the year
Loss before tax -60,253 -47,490
Reported tax for the year
Tax at applicable tax rate, 22% (2016: 22%) 13,256 10,448
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses -98 -7
Tax effect of non-taxable income 3 28
Tax effect of deductible expenses recognised directly in equity 6,207 544
Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised -19,368 -11,014
Reported tax for the year 0 0
2017 2016
Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised 180,075 92,039
Potential tax benefit, 22% 39,617 20,249

There is no expiration date which limits the use of the tax losses. It is, however, uncertain at what point in time it will be possible
to use these tax losses to offset taxable profits. The deferred tax asset arising from the tax loss has therefore not been assigned
any value. Changes in ownership, historical and potential future capital acquisitions may limit the amount of tax losses that can
be used in future.

NOTE 12
Net foreign exchange difference

2017 2016
Other operating expenses (Note 9) -210 -158
Interest expense and similar charges (Note 10) -324 -

Total -534 -158
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NOTE 13

Other securities held as non-current assets

Non-current assets

1 January 2016 1,577
Deposit 1,085
Carrying amount, 31 December 2016 2,662
Deposit 295
Carrying amount, 31 December 2017 2,957
The market value of the above securities at the balance sheet date is kSEK 3,067 (31 Dec 2016: kSEK 2,776;
1 Jan 2016: kSEK 1,457).

NOTE 14

Short-term investments

31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 1Jan 2016

Fixed-rate account, Sparbanken Skane 50,000 - -
Fixed-rate account, Erik Penser Bank 50,000 - -
Liquidity funds, Sparbanken Skane 20,000 8,937 14,871
Total 120,000 8,937 14,871
Fixed-rate account, Sparbanken Skane, fixed for 6 months, 0.1% interest.
Fixed rate account, Erik Penser Bank, fixed for 12 months, 0.6% interest.
Liquidity funds, Sparbanken Skane, low risk category 1.

NOTE 15

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of
cash flows include the following: 2017-12-31 2016-12-31 2016-01-01
Available bank deposits
SEK 120,922 25,904 9,641
EUR 28,859 - -
Total 149,781 25,904 9,641

NOTE 16

Share capital

Number of shares (thousands)

Share capital

1 January 2016

Ordinary shares 13,506
31 December 2016
Ordinary shares 20,917
31 December 2017
Ordinary shares 46,941

1,080

1,673

3,755

At 31 December 2017, the share capital consisted of 46,940,508 shares with a quotient value of SEK 0.08 per share.
Each share carries one vote. All shares issued by the parent company are fully paid up. It should be noted that at the
balance sheet date there were 19,245 thousand outstanding interim certificates, which were registered as ordinary

shares on 8 January 2018.
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NOTE 17
Accrued expenses and deferred income
31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2016 1Jan 2016
Accrued salaries and social security contributions 609 745 611
Accrued issue costs 2,048 - -
Other accrued expenses 4,460 1,163 508
Total 7,117 1,908 1,119

NOTE 18
Related party disclosures

Related party transactions
Related parties comprise senior executives of the company, i.e. the Board of Directors and management team and their family
members, as well as Jondell Consulting AB.

Cantargia has a research agreement with Lund University, where Thoas Fioretos, one of Cantargia’s founders and a Director of
the company, is engaged in research. Under the agreement, Thoas Fioretos has undertaken, as part of his employment at Lund
University, to conduct projects which are aimed at obtaining more knowledge about IL1RAP. Cantargia has the right under the

agreement to use and, where applicable, take over any and all research results from the two projects at no cost.

In May, Cantargia concluded a consulting agreement with Jondell Consulting AB, a company that is wholly owned by the
company's CFO. The CFO is not employed by Cantargia but works on a consultancy basis in accordance with the agreement.

The company considers that the above agreements have been concluded on market terms.

The following transactions have been made with related parties:

(a) Sale of services 2017 2016
Lund University (Thoas Fioretos) 467 1200
Jondell Consulting AB 686 -
Total 1,153 1,200

Remuneration of senior executives

2017 2016

Salaries and other short-term benefits 4,134 3,714
Post-employment benefits - -
Other long-term benefits = -
Termination benefits - -

Total 4,134 3,714
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Guidelines

Fees are paid to the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors in accordance with the resolution of the Annual General
Meeting. A separate fee is paid for committee work. In essence, the guidelines for remuneration and other terms of employment
for management stipulate that the company shall offer its senior executives a normal market remuneration, that resolutions
on remuneration shall be prepared by a special Remuneration Committee of the Board and that the applicable criteria shall
comprise the senior executive's responsibilities, role, expertise and position. Decisions on remuneration of senior executives
are made by the Board excluding any Directors who are in a dependent position in relation to the company and management.
The guidelines shall be applied to new contracts, or changes to existing contracts entered into with senior executives after the
adoption of the guidelines and until new or revised guidelines have been adopted. Senior executives may, from time to time,

be offered variable remuneration. Such variable remuneration shall consist of a normal market remuneration and be based on
outcomes for financial and individual targets. The terms and bases of calculation for variable remuneration shall be determined
annually.

Variable remuneration is settled in the year after it was earned and can be paid either as salary or as a single pension contribu-
tion. In case of payment in the form of a single pension contribution, the amount is adjusted slightly so that the overall cost for
Cantargia is neutral. The basic principle is that annual variable remuneration is capped at 20 per cent of the fixed annual salary.
The sum of all variable remuneration paid to senior executives is capped at SEK 500,000.

Senior executives may be offered long-term variable remuneration for the acquisition of shares of the company. The size of the
long-term remuneration scheme depends on the employee’s position and ability to influence the development of Cantargia. The
beneficiaries are required to use the whole amount of variable remuneration paid under the long-term remuneration scheme,
net after tax, to acquire Cantargia shares on the stock exchange. The company pays social security contributions on variable
remuneration. Shares acquired through the long-term remuneration scheme will be locked in for a period of three years after
the acquisition. The basic principle is that annual variable remuneration under the long-term remuneration scheme is capped

at 10 per cent of the fixed annual salary. The sum of all variable remuneration paid to senior executives under the long-term
remuneration scheme is capped at SEK 300,000.

The term of notice in case of termination by Cantargia shall be no more than six months for the CEO and no more than six
months for other senior executives. The term of notice in case of termination by the employee shall be at least six months for
the CEO and at least three months for other senior executives. In addition to the term of notice, severance pay may be paid to
the CEO up to a maximum of twelve months’ salary and employment benefits.

Salaries and remuneration for the year
Salaries, remuneration, social security contributions and pension costs have been paid in the following amounts:

2017 Social sec
Basic Variablere- Pension contribu-

Fee salary muneration cost Other benefits tions Total
Magnus Persson, Chairman 260 - - - - 82 342
Claus Asbjgrn Andersson, Director 130 - - - - 41 171
Lars H Bruzelius, Director 110 - - - - 35 145
Thoas Fioretos, Director 90 - - - - 28 118
Karin Leandersson, Director 130 - - - - 41 171
Niclas Lundquist, Director 180 - - - - 57 237
Patricia Delaite, Director 40 - - - - 13 53
Goran Forsberg, CEO - 1,290 425 842 9 558 3,124
Total, Board and CEO 940 1,290 425 842 9 855 4,361
Other senior executives (3 per- - 2,419 - 981 27 691 4,118
sons)

Total 940 3,709 425 1,822 36 1,546 8,479
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2016 Social sec
Basic Variablere- Pension contribu-
Fee salary muneration cost Other benefits tions Total
Magnus Persson, Chairman 260 - - - - 82 342
Claus Asbjgrn Andersson, Director 80 - - - - 25 105
Lars H Bruzelius, Director 90 - - - - 28 118
Thoas Fioretos, Director 80 - - - - 25 105
Karin Leandersson, Director 80 - - - - 25 105
Niclas Lundqvist, Director 110 - - - - 35 145
Goran Forsberg, CEO - 1,179 210 810 7 633 2,839
Total, Board and CEO 700 1,179 210 810 7 853 3,759
Other senior executives (3 persons) - 2,325 - 1,077 14 512 3,928
Total 700 3,504 210 1,887 21 1,365 7,687
Pensions

The retirement age for the Chief Executive Officer is 65 years.

The pension contribution is 35 per cent of the pensionable salary. Pensionable salary refers to the fixed monthly salary multi-
plied by 12.2.

For other senior executives, the retirement age is currently 65 years, in accordance with the applicable TP Agreement. The pen-
sion contribution is calculated in accordance with Section 2 of the ITP Agreement and its contribution tariffs, which are deter-
mined by Alecta, for the employed senior executives.

Term of notice and severance pay

The term of notice in case of termination by Cantargia shall be no more than six months for the Chief Executive Officer and no
more than six months for other senior executives. The term of notice in case of termination by the employee shall be at least six
months for the CEO and at least three months for other senior executives. In addition to the term of notice, severance pay may
be paid to the CEO up to a maximum of twelve months' salary and employment benefits.

Directors’ fee

The Directors’ fees approved at the Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2017 are kSEK 250 to the Chairman of the Board and
kSEK 80 to each of the other Directors. For the Remuneration Committee, a fee of kSEK 30 is paid to the committee chairman
and kSEK 10 to each of the other members, and for the Audit Committee kSEK 100 is paid to the committee chairman and
kSEK 50 to each of the other members. The full amount of Directors’ fees was charged to earnings in 2017. At an extraordinary
general meeting on 27 November 2017, the Board of Directors was increased by one member, Patricia Delaite, who received a
Director’s fee of kSEK 40 (kSEK 80 for a full financial year) for the period until the next ordinary general meeting.
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NOTE 19

Share-based payments — Warrant scheme

Warrant scheme introduced in 2017

The following is a summary of outstanding warrant schemes at 31 December 2017.

TO 2017/2020 At the Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2017, the shareholders approved a private placement of warrants

of series 2017/2020, entitling the holders to subscribe for new shares of Cantargia. The offering, in which the pre-emption
rights of existing shareholders were waived, comprised a maximum of 85,000 warrants of series 2017/2020. All warrants were
subscribed by the Chairman of the Board, Magnus Persson. The warrants were issued at a price of SEK 0.85 per warrant, which
represents the market value of the warrants (warrant premium), as calculated using the Black-Scholes model at 21 July 2017.
The calculation of the issue price was made by an independent valuation expert.

Each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one new share of the company at an exercise price of SEK 11.35 per share. The
warrants may be exercised to subscribe for shares during the period 23 June 2020 to 14 July 2020 inclusive. If all warrants are
exercised, the number of shares will increase by 85,000 and the share capital will increase by SEK 6,800. This would, based on
the company's current share capital, represent a maximum dilution of around 0.1 per cent of the shares and voting rights.

Other than the above, there were no other outstanding warrants, convertibles or other equity-related financial instruments of
the company at 31 December 2017.

Warrants exercised in 2016

The total number of outstanding warrants at 31 December 2015 was 8,238,080, entitling the holders to subscribe for
8,283,080 shares of the company. With the exception of a small number, 1,250 warrants, warrants had been issued free of
charge in connection with share offerings in which investors have been offered to subscribe for units consisting of shares and
warrants.

2017 2016
Average exercise Average exercise
price per warrant Number of price per warrant Number of
(SEK) warrants (SEK) warrants
1 January - - 7.60 8,238,080
Allocated during the year 11.35 85,000 - -
Exercised during the year - - 7.60 7,366,326
Unexercised warrants expired during the - - 7.60 871,754
year
31 December 11.35 85,000 - -

Exercisable at 31 December - - - -

Fair value of allocated warrants

The calculated fair value at the allocation date of warrants allocated in 2017 was SEK 0.85 per warrant (2016: -). The fair
value at the allocation date is calculated using an adapted version of the Black-Scholes pricing model. This includes a Monte
Carlo simulation model which takes into account the exercise price, the term of the warrant, the dilutive effect (if significant),
the share price at the allocation date and expected share price volatility, the expected yield, the risk-free rate for the term of
the warrant and the correlation and volatility for a group of comparable companies.
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NOTE 20

Earnings per share

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit/loss for the year by a weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares
during the period. Cantargia has potential ordinary shares in the form of warrants. These do not have a dilutive effect for 2016 and 2017, as
a conversion of warrants into ordinary shares would result in a lower loss per share.

2017 2016
Profit/loss for the period attributable to parent company shareholders
-60,253 -47,490 -47 490
Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares (thousands) 32,384 17,430
Earnings per ordinary share, SEK -1.86 -2.72

NOTE 21
Appropriation of retained earnings

The Annual General Meeting is asked to decide on the appropriation of the following earnings (SEK).

Loss brought forward -89,602,415
Share premium account 390,608,485
Loss for the year -60,252,705
The Board of Directors proposes that the following sum be carried forward: 240,753,365

The Board of Directors proposes that no dividend be paid for the financial year 2017.

NOTE 22

Events after the end of the reporting period

In January 2018, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) notified Cantargia that it had issued a Notice of Allowance for the
company's second, follow-up patent application, no. 15/196,795, in the solid tumours patent family.

In January, the Chinese patent office formally approved Cantargia’s patent application for ILTRAP as target molecule for antibody therapy
of several types of solid tumour. The approved patent has the number ZL201280014136.7.

In 2016, a third party filed oppositions to two of Cantargia's patents in Europe. One of the patents relates to IL1RAP as target molecule for
treatment of hematological cancer while the other relates to solid tumours. In January this year, the European Patent Office decided that
both patents should remain unchanged.

Cantargia's Nominating Committee for the Annual General Meeting 2018 has been appointed and consists of Claus Andersson (Sunstone
Life Science Ventures), Mats Larsson (First AP Fund) and Jannis Kitsakis (Fourth AP Fund).

In February 2018, the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) notified Cantargia that it had issued a Notice of Allowance for
the company's second, follow-up patent application, no. 15/242,242, in the hematological cancer family.

In March 2018, Cantargia was able to show that antibody treatment of IL1RAP signalling reduces metastases in an experimental cancer
model. The results of this preclinical in vivo study point to a new mechanism for preventing the spread of metastases. The results were
presented at the 2018 Annual Meeting of the American Association for Cancer Research in Chicago on 14—18 April. The presentation is
available on Cantargia's website, www.cantargia.com.



CANTARGIA AB (PUBL) 556791-6019 * ANNUAL REPORT 2017
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 23
Effects of the transition to RFR 2 Financial Reporting for Legal Entities
The annual report for 2017 is the company’s first annual report to be prepared in accordance with RFR 2.

The accounting policies described in Note 2 were applied in preparing the financial statements as at 31 December 2017 and the compara-
tive information that is presented as at 31 December 2016, and in preparing the opening balance sheet as at 1 January 2016 (Cantargia's
transition date to RFR 2). The transition to RFR 2 is accounted for in accordance with IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors. The change of accounting policy to RFR 2 must be applied retrospectively. This means that the opening balance of
each affected component of equity should be adjusted for the earliest prior period presented and the other comparative amounts disclo-
sed for each prior period presented as if RFR 2 had always been applied.

When the opening balance sheet as at 1 January 2016 and the balance sheet as at 31 December 2016 in accordance with RFR 2 were
prepared amounts which in previous annual reports had been reported in accordance with General Recommendation BFNAR 2012:1
Annual Accounts and Consolidated Financial Statements (K3) of the Swedish Accounting Standards Board were adjusted. An explanation
of how the transition from the previously applied accounting policies to RFR 2 has affected Cantargia's results and financial position is
presented in the following tables and the related notes.

Reconciliation between previously applied accounting policies and RFR 2

The following tables show, for each period, the reconciliation between the previously applied accounting policies and RFR 2 for the balance
sheet and equity as well as total comprehensive income.

RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY

1 January 2016

Under previous  Total effect of

accounting transition to
(kSEK) Notes policies RFR 2 Under RFR 2
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks, etc. a) 4,282 -4,282 -
Financial assets
Other securities held as non-current assets c) 1,747 -170 1,577
Total current assets 25,354 - 25,354
Total assets 31,383 -4,452 26,931
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital 1,080 - 1,080
Reserve for development costs - - -
Non-restricted equity
Share premium account 64,805 - 64,805
Retained earnings a) -20,640 -2,447 -23,087
Loss for the year a) -17,190 -1,835 -19,025

Total equity 28,055 -4,282 23,773
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Non-current liabilities

Provisions c) 170 -170 -
Total current liabilities 3,158 - 3,158
Total equity and liabilities 31,383 -4,452 26,931

RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET AND EQUITY

31 December 2016

Under previous  Total effect of

accounting transition to
(kSEK) Notes policies RFR 2 Under RFR 2
ASSETS
Intangible assets
Concessions, patents, licences, trademarks, etc. a) 7,092 -7,092 -
Financial assets
Other securities held as non-current assets c) 3,366 -704 2,662
Total current assets 37,053 - 37,053
Total assets 47,511 -7,796 39,715
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital 1,673 - 1,673
Reserve for development costs b) 2,810 -2,810 -
Non-restricted equity
Share premium account 117,964 - 117,964
Retained earnings a), b) -40,640 -1,472 -42,112
Loss for the year a) -44,680 -2,810 -47,490
Total equity 37,127 -7,092 30,035
Non-current liabilities
Provisions c) 704 -704 -
Total current liabilities 9,680 - 9,680

Total equity and liabilities 47,511 -7,796 39,715 39,715
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RECONCILIATON OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

1 January 2016 - 31 December 2016

Under previous  Total effect of

accounting transition to

(KSEK) Notes policies RFR 2 Under RFR 2

Net sales - - -
Project costs a) -32,683 -2,810 -35,493
Other external expenses -5,119 - -5,119
Personnel expenses -6,787 - -6,787
Other operating expenses -158 - -158
Operating loss -44,747 -2,810 -47,557
Other interest income and similar income 132 - 132
Interest expense and similar charges -65 - -65
Net financial income 67 - 67
Loss for the year -44,680 -2,810 -47,490
Total comprehensive income for the year -44,680 -2,810 -47,490

Intangible assets — adjustment of previously capitalised patent costs

Under the previously applied accounting policies, Cantargia capitalised costs for patent agents and the registration of patents.

In connection with the transition to RFR 2, Cantargia analysed the previously capitalised patent costs and concluded that the
criteria for capitalisation of development costs in IAS 38 Intangible Assets had not been met. Cantargia has therefore adjusted
this by derecognising all previously capitalised patent costs as at 1 January 2016 (kSEK 4,282) and as at 31 December 2016 (kSEK
7,092). This has decreased equity by kSEK 4,282 as at 1 January 2016 and by kSEK 7,092 as at 31 December 2016. Comprehen-
sive income for 2016 and earnings for the fourth quarter of 2016 have decreased by kSEK 2,810 and kSEK 981, respectively, as a
result of increased project costs.

b) Adjustment of reserve for development costs

As Cantargia has adjusted all previously capitalised patent costs in connection with the transition to RFR 2, the previously re-
cognised transfers to the reserve for development costs in equity have also been adjusted. The full amount previously recognised
in reserve for development costs, kSEK 2,810, has been transferred to the item retained earnings as at 31 December 2016. The
net effect of the reclassification in equity is kKSEK 0.

c) Other securities held as non-current assets and provisions — adjustment for defined contribution pension plans

Cantargia has made pension promises to two employees and in connection therewith purchased endowment policies which have
been posted as collateral for the employees’ pensions. Under the previously applied accounting policies, the endowment policies
and the liability were presented on a gross basis in the balance sheet. The asset was measured at cost and the liability was mea-
sured at the same amount as the asset. The pension solution constitutes a defined contribution plan and should, in accordance
with IAS 19, be accounted for by charging to expense the amount that is paid into the pension plan in each period. Cantargia has
adjusted this by derecognising the asset (the endowment policy) and the liability (the pension obligation) in the balance sheet. The
net effect of this adjustment is kSEK O in equity, both as at 1 January 2016 and as at 31 December 2016, as well as in compre-
hensive income for 2016.
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Reclassifications in the statement of cash flows for 2016
d) Patent costs - reclassification from investment to overhead expense.

As a result of the adjustment of previously capitalised patent costs, a reclassification has been made in the statement of cash
flows for 2016, as described below.

e) Short-term investments — not included in cash and cash equivalents

In accordance with RFR 2 (IFRS), a definition of cash and cash equivalents in which short-term investments are not included is
applied. This means that the opening balance of cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2016 has been adjusted to kSEK 9,641.
Changes in short-term investments are presented in investing activities, which in 2016 were kSEK 5,934,

Only those rows which have been reclassified are presented below.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

1 January 2016 - 31 December 2016

Under previous Reclassification

accounting on transition to

(KSEK) Notes policies RFR 2 Under RFR 2
Operating loss d) -44,747 -2,810 -47,557
Cash flow from operating activities before changes -44,680 -2,810 -47,490
in working capital

Cash flow from operating activities -39,528 -2,810 -42,338
Acquisition of concessions, patents, licences, etc. d) -2,810 2,810 -
Changes in other short-term investments e) - 5,934 5,934
Cash flow from investing activities -3,895 8,744 4,849
Change in cash and cash equivalents 10,329 5,934 16,263
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 24,512 -14,871 9,641
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period *) e) 34,841 25,904

*) The company's cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and available deposits with banks and other credit institutions.

NOTE 24
Trade payables

Trade payables as at 31 December 2017 includes invoices in respect of issue costs of kSEK 17,610 for share offerings completed in 2017.
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Chief Executive Officer

We presented our auditor’s report on 9 May 2018
Ohrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Anders Brofors Ekblom
Authorised Public Accountant
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To the shareholders’ meeting of Cantargia AB (publ), corporate ID no. 556791-6019

Report on the annual accounts

Opinion

We have audited the annual accounts of Cantargia AB (publ)
for 2017. The company’s annual accounts are included on
pages 27-62 of this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in ac-
cordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and give an
essentially true and fair view of Cantargia AB (publ)'s financial
position at 31 December 2017 and of its financial results and
cash flow for the year in accordance with Recommendation
RFR 2 (Financial Reporting for Legal Entities) and the Annual
Accounts Act. The Directors’ Report is consistent with the
other sections of the annual report.

We therefore recommend that the shareholders’ meeting
adopt the income statement and balance sheet for Cantargia
AB (publ).

Basis of opinion

We have conducted our audit in accordance with the Interna-
tional Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted au-
diting standards in Sweden (Swedish GAAS). Our responsibility
under these standards is described in the section The audi-
tor's responsibility. We are independent of Cantargia AB (publ)
in accordance with Swedish GAAS and have otherwise fulfilled
our ethical responsibilities under these standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and adequate as a basis for our opinion.

Other information than the annual accounts

This document also contains other information than the an-
nual accounts, which is found on pages 2-26 and 65-71. Re-
sponsibility for this other information rests with the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer.

Our opinion on the annual accounts does not cover this other
information, and we do not express any opinion, or make any
certification, in respect of this information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, it is our
responsibility to read the information identified above and, in

so doing, to consider whether it is materially inconsistent with
the annual accounts. In this review, we also take account of
other knowledge obtained in the course of our audit and as-
sess whether the information otherwise appears to contain
material misstatements.

If, based on the work we have carried out in respect of this in-
formation, we conclude that the other information contains a
material misstatement, we have a duty to report this. We have
nothing to report in that regard.

The Board of Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility
Responsibility for ensuring that annual accounts are prepared
and give a true and fair view pursuant to RFR2 and the An-
nual Accounts Act rests with the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer. The Board and CEO are also responsible for
such internal control as they deem necessary for the purpose
of preparing annual accounts that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, the Board and CEQO are re-
sponsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as
a going concern. Where applicable, they are also required to
disclose circumstances which could affect the company’s abil-
ity to continue as a going concern and use the going concern
assumption.

The auditor’s responsibility

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance that the an-
nual accounts as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error, and to submit an audi-
tor's report containing our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high degree of assurance, but does not constitute a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISA and Swedish
GAAS will always detect a material misstatement if it exists.
Misstatements can arise due to fraud or error and are consid-
ered material if they individually or jointly can reasonably be
expected to affect financial decisions made by users on the
basis of the annual accounts.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the
annual accounts is available on the website of the Swedish
Inspectorate of Auditors: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revi-
sornsansvar. This description constitutes a part of the audi-
tor's report.
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Report on other statutory and regulatory requirements

Opinion

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts, we have audi-
ted the Board of Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's ma-
nagement of Cantargia AB (publ) for 2017 and the proposed
appropriation of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend that the shareholders’ meeting allocate the
retained earnings as proposed in the Directors’ Report and
grant release from liability to the Directors and Chief Executive
Officer in respect of the financial year.

Basis of opinion

We have conducted our audit in accordance with generally ac-
cepted auditing standards in Sweden (Swedish GAAS). Our re-
sponsibility under these standards is described in the section
The auditor's responsibility. We are independent of Cantargia
AB (publ) in accordance with Swedish GAAS and have otherwi-
se fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under these standards.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and adequate as a basis for our opinion.

The Board of Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s responsibility
Responsibility for the proposed appropriation of the company's
profit or loss rests with the Board of Directors. The prepara-
tion of a dividend proposal involves assessing whether the
dividend is justifiable with regard to the equity, consolidation,
liquidity and financial position requirements of the company
arising from the nature, scope and risks of its operations.

The Board is responsible for the company's organisation and
the management of its affairs. This involves continuously as-
sessing the company’s financial situation, and ensuring that
the company’s organisation is structured so as to ensure sa-
tisfactory control of its accounting, management of funds and
financial affairs. The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for
day-to-day management in accordance with the guidelines
and instructions issued by the Board and is required to take
such actions as may be necessary to ensure compliance with
the company's statutory accounting obligations and satisfac-
tory management of funds.

The auditor’s responsibility

Our objective for the management audit, and thus for our opi-
nion on release from liability, is to obtain audit evidence which
enables us to assess with reasonable assurance whether any
member of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer has in any
material respect:

. taken any action or been guilty of any neglect that could
give rise to a liability to indemnify the company.
. otherwise acted in contravention of the Companies

Act, RFR2, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of
Association.

Our objective in respect of our audit of the proposed appro-
priation of the company's profit or loss, and thus for our opi-
nion on the same, is to obtain reasonable assurance that the
proposed appropriation is consistent with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high degree of assurance but does
not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Swedish GAAS will always detect actions or neglect that could
give rise to a liability to indemnify the company, or that the
proposed appropriation of the company’s profit or loss is con-
sistent with the Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the management
audit is available on the website of the Swedish Inspectorate
of Auditors: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar.
This description constitutes a part of the auditor’s report.

Lund, 9 May 2018
Ohrlings PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Anders Brofors Ekblom
Authorised Public Accountant
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OTHER INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR EXECUTIVES AND AUDITORS

The Board of Directors

Under Cantargia’s Articles of Association, the Board of Directors shall consist of at least three and no
more than eight Directors. At the Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2017, it was resolved that the
Board should consist of six regular Directors with no deputies. At an extraordinary general meeting on
17 November 2017, one regular member, Patricia Delaite, was added to the Board of Directors. The
Directors have been elected for the period until the end of the Annual General Meeting 2018.

Magnus Persson

Chairman of the Board since 2016, born 1960. Number of
shares: 44,976. Number of warrants 2017/2020: 85,000
Magnus Persson is a physician and Associate Professor of Physiology
at the Karolinska Institute in Stockholm. He has extensive experience in
medicine, life science and biotech financing, and has led development
teams in phase Il and Il programmes in the pharmaceutical industry.
He has also founded and led private- and public-sector biotech and
medtech companies in Europe and the United States as Chairman and
Director, and has been involved in about ten IPOs.

Lars H. Bruzelius

Director since 2013, born 1943. Number of shares: 1,232,682
Lars H. Bruzelius is an associate professor of Business Administration
and a management consultant with extensive experience of working
with banks and companies in the energy, medtech and telecom in-
dustries. He has been a senior partner and shareholder of BSI & Part-
ners since 2012 and is a Director and Chairman of LU Bioscience AB.
For three years, he was Vice President and Administrative Director of
Gambro AB. He has also been a Director of two listed companies and an
investor and Director of several start-up companies.

Karin Leandersson

Director since 2016, born 1972. Number of shares: 0

Karin Leandersson is Professor of Tumour Immunology at the Faculty
of Medicine of Lund University. She has broad experience in cancer
research in the areas of tumour immunology and tumour inflamma-
tion in solid tumours, and especially in breast cancer. She has also au-
thored around 30 scientific publications in international journals.
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Thoas Fioretos

Director since 2010, born 1962. Number of shares: 732,600
Thoas Fioretos is a professor and chief physician at the Department
of Clinical Genetics at Lund University. His work is focused on mo-
lecular and functional studies of genetic changes in leukemia and on
how such changes can be used for diagnostic and therapeutic pur-
poses. Thoas Fioretos has authored more than 110 scientific articles
and is one of the founders of Cantargia AB and the bioinformatics
company Qlucore AB.

Claus Asbjgrn Andersson

Director since 2013, born 1968. Number of shares: 0

Claus Asbjgrn Andersson is a partner of Sunstone Life Science Ven-
tures, a holding company which manages billion-dollar venture funds.
He has an M.Sc. in Chemical Engineering from the Technical University
of Denmark and a PhD in Mathematical Statistics from the University
of Copenhagen and the Humboldt University of Berlin. Claus Asbjgrn
Andersson has so far founded two European and two Danish start-ups.
He has been part of Sunstone Life Sciences since its founding in 2007
and is an active member of the International Venture Club and a direct
advisor to the European Commission.

Niclas Lundquist

Director since 2016, born 1965. Number of shares: 0

Niclas Lundqvist has an LL.M. and specialises in providing legal ad-
vice on corporate law and securities law issues to companies listed
on a Swedish exchange or MTF. He has experience of operational
board work as a Director of companies listed on a Swedish exchange
and investment firms regulated by the Swedish Financial Superviso-
ry Authority. His previous experience includes working as a legal of-
ficer, project manager and business developer in Corporate Finance
at Sedermera Fondkommission during the years 2003-2013. Niclas
Lundqvist is one of the founders of the venture capital fund Swedish
Growth Fund.

Patricia Delaite

Director since 2017, born 1963. Number of shares: 0

Patricia Delaite has an MD and MBA from the universities of Geneva
and Lausanne. She is currently Chief Medical Officer at AMAL Thera-
peutics in Geneva and has previously held senior positions at com-
panies including Incyte Biosciences International, Ariad Pharmaceu-
tical, Novartis and Eli Lilly. Patricia Delaite also has experience of
clinical development and research at the Geneva University Hospital.
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Senior executives

Goran Forsberg

CEO since 2014, born 1963. Number of shares: 77,648

Goran Forsberg, who holds a PhD in Biochemistry, is an Associate
Professor and has authored more than 40 scientific publications. He
has been involved in pharmaceutical and biotech firms for 30 years,
notably in various positions at KabiGen, Pharmacia, Active Biotech
and the University of Adelaide in Australia. Before joining Cantargia,
Goran Forsberg worked as Business Development Manager at Active
Biotech AB. He has extensive experience of drug development with
a special focus on oncology. Goran Forsberg has been a Director of
Isogenica Ltd since 2011.

Liselotte Larsson

V/P Operations since 2014, born 1963.

Number of shares: 24,000

Liselotte Larsson has an M.Sc. in Chemical Engineering and a PhD in
Biotechnology and has extensive experience from various senior posi-
tions at pharmaceutical and medtech companies such as BioGaia Fer-
mentation AB, Novozymes Biopharma AB, Camurus AB and Life Science
Foresight Institute. She has worked mainly on business development,
marketing and sales/licensing, 1SO certification, GMP manufacturing
and general project management.

Lars Thorsson

VP Clinical Development since 2015, born 1961.

Number of shares: 49,001

Lars Thorsson graduated with a PhD in Clinical Pharmacology in 1998
and has more than 30 years' experience of working in the pharmaceu-
tical industry with responsibility for clinical studies as well as project
management in several development phases in the AstraZeneca Group.
Before joining Cantargia, Lars Thorsson worked at Novo Nordisk A/S as
Senior Clinical Pharmacology Scientist with responsibility for prepara-
tion and implementation of clinical pharmacological studies in develop-
ment projects. He has also been in charge of evaluation and documen-
tation of new substances and has experience of regulatory work and
contacts with regulators.
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David Liberg

VP Cancer Research since 2015, born 1969.

Number of shares: 4,400

David Liberg, who graduated with a PhD in 2001, has 20 years' expe-
rience of research in immunology and tumour biology. Over the past
twelve years, he has been working in the pharmaceutical industry
where he has been in charge of early research projects and activi-
ties in tumour immunology. David Liberg has extensive experience
of cancer projects in the preclinical phase. His previous appointment
was with Active Biotech AB, where we was Project Manager Drug
Development and Head of Cell Biology and Biochemistry. He has
previously worked as a researcher at Imperial College in the UK and
at Lund University.

Bengt Jondell

CFO since 2017, born 1960. Number of shares: 55,999

Bengt Jondell has an M.Sc. in Economics and Business and an M.Sc.
in Chemical Engineering. He has long experience of working in senior
finance positions, including CFO and CAO at BTJ Group AB, Senior
Financial Advisor for medtech company BoneSupport, CFO/CAO for
Inpac, Business Controller at Pharmacia & Upjohn Consumer Health-
care, Pharmacia Consumer Pharma and Kabi Pharmacia Nicorette.
Before joining Cantargia, he worked as CFO at Enzymatica AB.




Other disclosures on Directors and senior executives
There are no family connections among any Directors or se-
nior executives. There are no conflicts of interest or poten-
tial conflicts of interest between the Directors’ and senior
executives' undertakings to the company and their private
interests and/or other undertakings. As shown above, some
Directors and senior executives have financial interests in
the company in the form of shareholdings.

None of the Directors or senior executives has in the last five
years participated or been involved in any bankruptcy, liqui-
dation or administration in the capacity of Director or senior
executive of a company. None of the Directors or senior ex-
ecutives have in the last five years been accused of and/or
been subject to any sanction from a public authority, profes-
sional association or similar body, been disqualified from en-
gaging in business activities or otherwise been disqualified
by a court from acting as a member of the administrative,

management or supervisory bodies of or from acting in the
management or conduct of the affairs any company. There
exist no special agreements on post-employment benefits
for the current Directors or senior executives.

All Directors and senior executives can be contacted at the
company’s address: Medicon Village, Scheelevagen 2, SE-223
81 Lund, Sweden.

Auditors

At the Annual General Meeting on 30 May 2017, Ohrlings
PricewaterhouseCoopers AB were re-appointed as auditors
for the company for the period until the end of the Annual
General Meeting 2018. Anders Brofors Ekblom (born 1968)
is auditor-in-charge. He is an Authorised Public Accountant
and a member of FAR, the professional institute for accoun-
tants in Sweden, and has been auditor-in-charge for the
company since 2014.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND FINANCIAL CALENDAR
Cantargia’'s Annual General Meeting will be held on Tuesday 31 May 2018, at 4 p.m., at Medicon

Village, Scheelevagen 2 in Lund, Sweden. Shareholders wishing to take part in the Annual General

Meeting must be registered in the share register maintained by Euroclear Sweden AB by Friday 25

May 2018, and register their attendance with the company no later than Friday 25 May 2018 by

writing to Cantargia AB, Medicon Village, Scheelevagen 2, SE-223 81 Lund. Shareholders can also
be register by phone on +46 (0)46-27 56 260 or by e-mail at info@cantargia.com. Shareholders
whose shareholdings are registered with a nominee must, to be entitled to attend the AGM, ensure

that their shareholding is temporarily re-registered in their own name with Euroclear Sweden AB in
good time before Friday 25 May 2018.

15 May 2018
31 May 2018
21 Aug 2018
15 Nov 2018
27 Feb 2019

Interim report 1

Annual General Meeting
Half-year report

Interim report 3
Year-end report for 2018
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